

UvA-DARE (Digital Academic Repository)

Gravitational wave probes of dark matter: challenges and opportunities

Bertone, G.; Croon, D.; Amin, M.A.; Boddy, K.K.; Kavanagh, B.J.; Mack, K.J.; Natarajan, P.; Opferkuch, T.; Schutz, K.; Takhistov, V.; Weniger, C.; Yu, T.-T. DOI 10.21468/SciPostPhysCore.3.2.007 Publication date

2020 Document Version Final published version

Published in SciPost Physics Core

License CC BY

Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA):

Bertone, G., Croon, D., Amin, M. A., Boddy, K. K., Kavanagh, B. J., Mack, K. J., Natarajan, P., Opferkuch, T., Schutz, K., Takhistov, V., Weniger, C., & Yu, T-T. (2020). Gravitational wave probes of dark matter: challenges and opportunities. *SciPost Physics Core*, *3*(2), [007]. https://doi.org/10.21468/SciPostPhysCore.3.2.007

General rights

It is not permitted to download or to forward/distribute the text or part of it without the consent of the author(s) and/or copyright holder(s), other than for strictly personal, individual use, unless the work is under an open content license (like Creative Commons).

Disclaimer/Complaints regulations

If you believe that digital publication of certain material infringes any of your rights or (privacy) interests, please let the Library know, stating your reasons. In case of a legitimate complaint, the Library will make the material inaccessible and/or remove it from the website. Please Ask the Library: https://uba.uva.nl/en/contact, or a letter to: Library of the University of Amsterdam, Secretariat, Singel 425, 1012 WP Amsterdam, The Netherlands. You will be contacted as soon as possible.

UvA-DARE is a service provided by the library of the University of Amsterdam (https://dare.uva.nl)



Gravitational wave probes of dark matter: challenges and opportunities

 Gianfranco Bertone^{1*}, Djuna Croon^{2†}, Mustafa A. Amin^{3‡}, Kimberly K. Boddy⁴*, Bradley J. Kavanagh^{1⊙}, Katherine J. Mack^{5°}, Priyamvada Natarajan^{6•}, Toby Opferkuch^{7⊗}, Katelin Schutz^{8∞}, Volodymyr Takhistov^{9▽}, Christoph Weniger^{1⊖} and Tien-Tien Yu^{10⊥}

1 Gravitation Astroparticle Physics Amsterdam (GRAPPA), Institute for Theoretical Physics Amsterdam and Delta Institute for Theoretical Physics, University of Amsterdam, Science Park 904, 1098 XH Amsterdam, The Netherlands 2 TRIUMF, 4004 Wesbrook Mall, Vancouver, BC V6T 2A3, Canada 3 Department of Physics and Astronomy, Rice University, 1600 Main Street, Houston, TX 77025, USA 4 Department of Physics, The University of Texas at Austin, Austin, TX 78712, USA **5** North Carolina State University, Department of Physics, Raleigh, North Carolina 27695-8202, USA 6 Department of Astronomy & Department of Physics, Yale University, New Haven, CT 06511, USA 7 Theoretical Physics Department, CERN, 1211 Geneva, Switzerland 8 Berkeley Center for Theoretical Physics, University of California, Berkeley, CA 94720, USA 9 Department of Physics and Astronomy, University of California, Los Angeles, CA 90095-1547, USA 10 Department of Physics, University of Oregon, Eugene, OR 97403 USA

★ g.bertone@uva.nl, † dcroon@triumf.ca, ‡ mustafa.a.amin@rice.edu, < kboddy@physics.utexas.edu,
 © kavanagh@ifca.unican.es, < kmack@ncsu.edu,
 priyamvada.natarajan@yale.edu,
 © toby.opferkuch@cern.ch,
 ∞ kschutz@berkeley.edu,
 ∨ trakhist@physics.ucla.edu,
 ⊖ c.weniger@uva.nl, ⊥ tientien@uoregon.edu

Abstract

In this white paper, we discuss the prospects for characterizing and identifying dark matter using gravitational waves, covering a wide range of dark matter candidate types and signals. We argue that present and upcoming gravitational wave probes offer unprecedented opportunities for unraveling the nature of dark matter and we identify the most urgent challenges and open problems with the aim of encouraging a strong community effort at the interface between these two exciting fields of research.

Copyright G. Bertone *et al*. This work is licensed under the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License. Published by the SciPost Foundation. Received 24-09-2019 Accepted 02-10-2020 Published 15-10-2020 doi:10.21468/SciPostPhysCore.3.2.007

Contents

1	Introduction	2
2	Primordial Black Holes	3
	2.1 Formation	4
	2.2 Detection	4
	2.3 Implications for particle DM	4
3	Environmental Effects	5
	3.1 Cold DM	5
	3.2 Ultralight bosons	6
	3.3 Baryons	7
4	Exotic Binary Mergers	7
	4.1 Exotic stars	8
	4.2 Captured DM	8
	4.3 Black hole mimickers	9
5	Direct DM detection with GW experiments	9
	5.1 Searches with interferometers	9
	5.2 Searches with PTAs	10
6	Non-perturbative DM dynamics	11
7	Phase Transitions	12
	7.1 The electroweak phase transition	12
	7.2 Phase transitions in hidden sectors	13
	7.3 Hidden sector confinement	13
8	Discussion and conclusions	14
References		15

1 Introduction

The direct detection of gravitational waves (GWs) has opened a new era and window into the study of the Universe [1–4], allowing us to probe in exquisite detail the nature of compact astrophysical objects and their environments. In the coming decades, a range of current and future experiments will continue to study GWs, including LIGO/Virgo [5], LISA [6, 7], the Einstein Telescope [8], Pulsar Timing Arrays [9, 10], and others. These experiments promise to address, and possibly solve, a variety of longstanding problems in astrophysics, cosmology, and particle physics (see e.g. Ref. [11] and references therein).

Here, we present a survey of the most promising prospects for characterizing dark matter (DM) using gravitational wave detectors. Exploiting synergies between these two very active fields of research, we review the status of six different areas of research. We show that tremendous advances in our understanding are likely using this combined approach. Our paper is organized around the following topics, which are also summarized in Fig. 1:

Sci Post



Figure 1: Mind map of gravitational wave probes of dark matter. See text for details.

- **Primordial black holes.** In Sec. 2, we discuss the connections between DM and primordial black holes (PBHs). We briefly review the currently proposed PBH formation scenarios, the strategies to discriminate this population from astrophysical black holes using GWs and other probes, and the implications that their discovery would have for particle DM.
- Environmental effects. In Sec. 3, we review the so-called "environmental" effects induced by DM around compact objects – such as the de-phasing of gravitational waveforms and the spin-down of black holes due to super-radiance – and the prospects for probing them with GW experiments.
- Exotic compact objects. In Sec. 4, we discuss the possibility that DM forms compact objects, or that it accretes onto and modifies astrophysical objects, and explore the ensuing gravitational wave signatures.
- Direct detection with GW experiments. In Sec. 5, we review ideas on how to repurpose GW experiments (inteferometers and Pulsar Timing Arrays) to search for the signature of DM not via gravitational wave signals, but "directly," e.g. through the effects induced by DM particle physics couplings, or time-varying gravitational potentials.
- Non-perturbative DM dynamics. In Sec. 6, we consider scenarios in which DM particles

are produced non-perturbatively and discuss the detectability of the stochastic gravitational wave background that they would produce.

• **Phase transitions.** Finally, in Sec. 7, we review the prospects for detecting a stochastic GW background induced by cosmological phase transitions, and the implications that this detection would have for DM.

For each of these areas, we identify the most urgent challenges, open problems and the prospects for resolution for these outstanding questions. We argue that present and upcoming gravitational wave probes offer unprecedented opportunities for DM studies, and we encourage a strong community effort at the interface between these two exciting fields of research.

2 Primordial Black Holes

Primordial black holes (PBHs) have been of longstanding theoretical interest [12, 13], particularly as a possible component of DM [14]. Such interest has been reinvigorated with the dawn of GW astrophysics, as PBHs have the potential to produce signals for current and future GW experiments [15-17]. The existence of non-baryonic matter (i.e. matter that does not appreciably interact with the electroweak or strong sectors of the Standard Model) can be seen as early as Big Bang Nucleosynthesis [18], indicating that in order for PBHs to be a viable DM candidate they must have formed less than ~ 1 second after the Big Bang. PBHs with masses below $\sim 10^{-16} \ M_{\odot}$ cannot constitute a substantial fraction of the DM, because they are not stable to Hawking evaporation on cosmological timescales and this can drastically change cosmological observables [19]. Meanwhile, the existence of DM dominated $\sim 10^6 M_{\odot}$ dwarf galaxies like Segue 2 [20] indicate that PBHs cannot constitute a large fraction of the DM above this mass scale. Between these limiting masses, there are many constraints on the fraction of DM that can be comprised of PBHs, f_{PBH} : these limits on f_{PBH} arise from constraints on extragalactic gamma rays [19]; gravitational microlensing [21–23] and lensing of type Ia supernovae [24]; the survival of star clusters in dwarf galaxies [25] and of wide stellar binaries [26]; and the cosmic microwave background [27, 28]. For the remainder of this section, we focus on the possibility of detecting PBHs via their GW signatures and the implications of such a discovery for particle DM candidates.

2.1 Formation

PBHs have a number of formation scenarios, each of which could leave slightly different GW signatures. Large curvature perturbations can be generated in hybrid [29, 30] and axioncurvaton [31] models of inflation, which can lead to the formation of PBHs. Phase transitions in the early universe can lead to topological defects such as cosmic strings, loops of which can collapse into PBHs [32, 33] (and the dynamics of the loops may be a potential source of gravitational radiation). PBHs may also be formed by the fragmentation of extended solitonic and pseudo-solitonic field configurations [34–36], or as a byproduct of the metastability of the electroweak vacuum [37, 38]. These scenarios can possibly be distinguished by the shape of the inferred PBH mass spectrum, which impacts any potential GW signal from PBH merger events. Further, PBHs formed in a matter-dominated era (e.g. [34-36]) are expected to possess large spins [39], unlike PBHs formed in the radiation-era as with standard inflationary perturbations; the LIGO Collaboration has placed some limits on the spin distribution of binary black holes through the merger events detected in Observing Runs 1 and 2 [40]. Additionally, some formation scenarios are accompanied by a tensor mode [41], which impacts the gravitational wave background and can thus be probed with pulsar timing and interferometric searches [42-47].

2.2 Detection

GWs have the potential to provide evidence for PBHs in the near future, as there are at least two detection scenarios that appear incompatible with black holes of astrophysical origin. The first scenario is the detection of nearby mergers of sub-solar mass black holes (BHs) with LIGO/Virgo: according to the standard theory of stellar evolution, black holes do not form below the Chandrasekhar mass of ~ $1.4 M_{\odot}$, and therefore the detection of the merger of subsolar mass BHs using LIGO and Virgo would strongly suggest a primordial origin (though see Refs. [48, 49] for alternative exotic formation mechanisms). The second detection scenario is the observation of BH-BH mergers at high redshift with next generation interferometers such as Einstein Telescope (ET) [50] and Cosmic Explorer (CE) [8]: above a redshift of $z \sim 40$, the merger rate of astrophysical BHs should be negligible [51]. Very high-redshift mergers would therefore point towards a primordial BH population which formed much earlier [52].

PBHs may also be detected by studying populations of merger events. PBH binaries are expected to form abundantly before matter-radiation equality [15,53,54] (while binary formation in the late Universe is sub-dominant [55,56]). The resulting merger rate of these binaries has been studied extensively (see, for example, Refs. [57–64]). Comparing the merger rate histories of primordial and astrophysical BHs, it should therefore be possible to distinguish between them (see e.g. [65] for a recent review).

Other strategies to discriminate between primordial and astrophysical BHs include: the analysis of their eccentricities [66], mass function [67], as well as angular momentum distributions [68, 69], which are already being constrained via BH-BH merger waveforms [40]; the study of the spatial distribution and mass function of radio and X-ray sources powered by the accretion of gas onto Galactic BHs [70–72]; and the search for a population of compact objects with a large optical depth to GW lensing [73].

2.3 Implications for particle DM

If PBHs do not make up all of the DM, they are generically expected to accrete a dense mini-halo of DM. This begins before matter-radiation equality, as the sphere of gravitational influence of each PBH grows [74, 75]. Analytic considerations suggest that such mini-halos would have a very steep central density profile $\rho(r) \propto r^{-9/4}$ [76], which has recently been confirmed in numerical simulations [77, 78]. The growth of the halo is expected to continue at least until PBHs are subsumed into bound structures, at which point the DM halo may be 100 times more massive than the PBH itself [74].

Such large over-densities would have profound implications for particle DM. Enhanced DM annihilation within mini-halos would potentially make solar-mass PBHs bright γ -ray sources [79–81], as well as contributing to the diffuse γ -ray background [82–84]. By comparing with γ -ray observations, the abundance of PBHs can be constrained below the level of $f_{\text{PBH}} \leq 10^{-8}$, assuming that the DM is a Weakly Interacting Massive Particle (WIMP) produced as a thermal relic [78,85–87]. This suggests that PBHs and WIMPs are fundamentally incompatible. More recently, it has been pointed out that if PBHs are detected in near-future GW searches (as discussed above), this would point towards an abundance greater than $f_{\text{PBH}} \gtrsim 10^{-5}$ [88]. This in turn would place stringent constraints on models of WIMP DM, ruling out thermal WIMP DM with GeV-scale masses and above. Such a detection would also strongly constrain large regions of the parameter space for models such as the minimal supersymmetric standard model, even when they predict only a sub-dominant population of WIMPs.

The existence of PBHs may also have more indirect implications. In scenarios where PBHs are formed from enhanced primordial perturbations (Sec. 2.1), the same rare, large density fluctuations which produce PBHs should also lead to the formation of gravitationally bound ultra-compact mini-halos (UCMHs) of particle DM [77, 89–92]. This in turn would lead to

enhanced lensing and annihilation signatures due to these UCMHs (see e.g. [93,94]). Finally, the detection of PBHs would shed light on a number of models that suggest a common origin for PBHs and particle DM [95,96].

3 Environmental Effects

Future GW experiments should allow for precise reconstructions of the properties of inspiraling and merging compact objects, including mass measurements at the sub-percent level [97]. With such exquisite precision, these experiments would be sensitive to tiny deviations in the gravitational waveforms which may be induced by matter in the violent environments of the merging BHs and NSs [98, 99]. These "environmental effects," once detected, could perhaps signal the presence of DM, although similar effects due to baryons must also be taken into account.

3.1 Cold DM

As discussed above, large overdensities of cold DM may form around primordial black holes. Numerical and analytical studies of the mergers of "dressed" black holes show that the distribution of DM around them dramatically affects the dynamical evolution of the binaries [62].

Cold DM overdensities are also expected to inevitably form around astrophysical black holes, although the slope and normalization of the DM density profile depends strongly on the formation mechanism. This process has been explored in the context of supermassive black holes lying at the centers of galaxies [100–106], as well as for intermediate-mass BHs [107–109].

The dynamical friction induced by DM particles is expected to modify the dynamics of the merger, possibly leaving an imprint on the gravitational waveform, in the form of a change in phase relative to the inspiral without DM [11, 98, 99, 110–112]. Much remains however to be understood about the evolution of these systems, as only approximate solutions have been obtained thus far. The full problem of evolving the BH-BH pair – including post-Newtonian corrections as well as the gravitational feedback induced on the DM distribution – has yet to be solved. We also stress that the dephasing induced by a distribution of DM might substantially alter the waveform, to the point that dedicated templates would be needed in order to extract the predicted signal from the noise.

If this dephasing effect is observed, it would potentially allow for the detection of DM around black holes, as well as a measurement of the DM density. It has been suggested that these "dark dresses" are incompatible with light bosonic and fermionic DM and with self-annihilating DM [113] and their observation may therefore hint at the nature of the DM particle.

3.2 Ultralight bosons

Another attractive class of DM models consists of ultralight bosonic particles such as the axion, axion-like particles (ALPs), and dark photons. For DM candidates with masses below \sim keV, the occupation numbers are high enough that one can describe the DM as a classical field. These light bosonic fields can form gravitational bound states around spinning black holes, and subsequently extract energy and angular momentum from the BH through a process known as "rotational superradiance" (see [114] for a review). Notably, this process depends only on the gravitational interaction between the bosonic fields and the black hole.¹ Super-

¹Superradiance can also occur around rotating neutron stars if there is some non-gravitational interaction between the bosonic cloud and the neutron star [115, 116], although it remains to be understood if the gravitational-

radiance drives an exponential growth of bosonic clouds around the BH, potentially reaching masses of up to ~ 10% of the BH, which causes the BH to spin-down [117–120]. Therefore, the existence of these bosonic fields can be probed indirectly by measuring the masses and spins of BHs. Since this process is most efficient when the Compton wavelength of the bosonic field is of comparable size to the BH, observations of stellar mass black holes (supermassive black holes) set limits on the scalar masses that apply in the range ~ $10^{-13} - 10^{-11}$ eV ($10^{-18} - 10^{-16}$ eV) [121, 122]. The superradiance process is more effective for vector particles, and in that case the limits shift to ~ $10^{-14} - 10^{-11}$ eV ($10^{-20} - 10^{-17}$ eV), for stellar mass (supermassive) black holes, respectively [123].

In addition, the oscillations of the bosonic clouds can source GWs that are detectable with LIGO, LISA, and other gravitational wave detectors [121–123]. There are three types of signals that can arise from the bosonic cloud: graviton emission from level transitions, boson annihilations into gravitons, and a bosenova collapse of the boson cloud [117]. The first two processes result in monochromatic GWs. The frequency of the signal is determined by the masses of the boson and black hole. For stellar mass black holes, this corresponds to the frequencies probed by Advanced LIGO while supermassive black holes correspond to the frequencies of LISA. The third process is a consequence of the self-interactions; if the attractive self-interactions are stronger than the gravitational binding energy, the bosonic cloud collapses, resulting in a burst of GWs. The amplitude of these waves is smaller, but may be observable for supermassive black holes. The gravitational wave signatures are also altered if the black hole is a part of a binary system. Most notably, the existence of a companion black hole induces resonant mixing between the growing and decaying modes of the bosonic cloud [124, 125]. Some consequences on the gravitational wave signal are a Doppler modulation of the frequency, as well as modifications to the waveforms from the cloud's multipole moments and tidal deformations caused by the companion.

DM in the form of ALPs may also give rise to electromagnetic signatures around compact objects, creating a new opportunity for multimessenger astronomy. For example, dense clouds of ALPs (grown by superradiance around rotating BHs) may lead to stimulated photon emission. This gives rise to a periodic radio signal, relevant for axion masses above $\sim 10^{-8}$ eV and BH masses below $\sim 0.01 M_{\odot}$ [126,127]. Another possibility is that ALPs may be converted into radio photons via the Primakoff effect [128]. This process requires strong magnetic fields, making the magnetospheres of neutrons stars (NSs) a promising environment for this axion-photon conversion [129–131]. Around intermediate mass black holes (IMBHs), the DM density is expected to be significantly enhanced (see Sec. 2.3 and Sec. 3.1) leading to an even larger predicted signal in NS-IMBH binaries. GW observations of such a system could provide a measurement of the DM density (through the dephasing effect), fixing the normalization of the expected radio signal [132]. Joint observations of these systems using LISA and the Square Kilometer Array [133] would thus probe the natural parameter space of the QCD axion in the mass range $m_a \in [10^{-7}, 10^{-5}]$ eV.

3.3 Baryons

Baryons can also play a major role in driving the coalescence of Massive Black Hole Binaries (MBHBs), whether in the form of stars or gas. The dominant mechanism for driving a change in the orbital dynamics of MBHBs has yet to be fully understood, but several channels are possible. Stars that are ejected from the binary loss cone via gravitational slingshot can lead to hardening of the binary, as the ejected star carries away energy [134,135]. This process will stall if the loss cone is depleted, but the loss cone can be efficiently replenished in sufficiently non-spherical galaxies [136–138]. Gas disks can also play a role via tidal torquing of the binary

wave emission is relevant in this case.

if the mass of the disk is similar to the mass of the secondary BH, although this is complicated by star formation in the disk [139, 140]. If the binary accretes infalling molecular clouds, this can also efficiently drive MBHBs into the regime of gravitational wave domination [141].

Baryons can have a residual effect on the MBHB even after it has entered the GW-dominated phase. For instance, while the emission of GWs tends to circularize elliptical orbits, interactions with a circumbinary gaseous disk [142] or stars [143,144] can increase the orbital eccentricity, particularly for binaries with a large mass discrepancy. Such effects may be a fingerprint for baryonic influence on the binaries, but may also make it harder to identify the subtle environmental effects expected from Dark Matter.

4 Exotic Binary Mergers

If dark particles coalesce into exotic compact objects (ECOs) of astrophysical size, they may form new binary systems. The gravitational radiation emitted when such binary systems merge may be observed in gravitational wave experiments. Binary black hole mergers are often separated into three sequential phases: the inspiral, the merger, and the ringdown. Gravitational wave emission builds up in the inspiral phase and peaks during the merger. The end of the inspiral phase is characterized by the innermost stable circular orbit (ISCO), which can be defined for ECOs in analogy with black holes, [145]

$$f_{\rm ISCO} = \frac{C_*^{3/2}}{3^{3/2} \pi G_N (M_1 + M_2)} \tag{1}$$

where $M_{1,2}$ are the masses of the stars in the binary and $C_* = G_N M_*/R_*$ is the typical compactness of an ECO of mass M_* and radius R_* , limited from above by black holes ($C_* = 1/2$). ECOs with $C_* > 4/9$ are in violation of Buchdahl's theorem [146,147]²; we will describe some examples in Section 4.3. The best detection prospect for an ECO merger is for $f_{\rm ISCO}$ within the frequency window of an experiment. This implies that ground-based interferometers are most sensitive to $10 < f_{\rm ISCO}/{\rm Hz} < 10^3$, which includes BNS, BBH, and solar mass-sized ECOs, whereas Pulsar Timing Arrays (PTAs) are sensitive to supermassive BHs and other compact objects with $M_* \sim 10^6 M_{\odot}$.

The experimental prospects also rely on the formation history and abundance of the ECOs. ECOs may form at redshifts long before first-star formation, and depending on the fraction of DM that they constitute, may not follow a Navarro-Frenk-White profile [148]. ECOs with masses close to solar masses are also constrainable via the non-observation of microlensing events.

4.1 Exotic stars

Real and complex scalar fields provide excellent DM candidates; these fields can support ultracompact, coherent solitonic configurations held together by gravity (oscillatons & boson stars) [149, 150], self-interactions (oscillons & Q-balls) [151–154], or both. When gravity is the dominant force holding the solitons together, their mass is given by $M \leq 0.6m_{\rm pl}^2/m_{\phi}$ [155] where m_{ϕ} is the mass of the scalar. Their compactness C_* can be comparable to that of neutron stars ($C_* \sim 0.1$). For sufficiently compact solitons, and a small mass m_{ϕ} ($M \sim m_{\rm pl}^2/m_{\phi}$), such objects can source detectable GWs for LIGO/LISA via their mergers with one another, or with other compact objects (see for example, [156–160]).

²With certain caveats, Buchdahl's theorem states that the compactness of a spherically symmetric selfgravitating object composed of a spherically symmetric perfect fluid cannot be arbitrarily close to that of a BH.

Boson stars stabilized by a repulsive self-interaction can form compact, astronomically sized Bose-Einstein condensates with mass $M_* = \mathcal{O}(10^{-2}) \sqrt{\lambda_\phi} M_p^3 / m_\phi^2$ [161]. The maximum compactness of such spherically symmetric stable stars is $C_* \lesssim 0.16$ [162]. In this case, it is seen that the binary merger signal peaks at $f_{\text{peak}} \sim 10^{-14} (m_\phi/\text{eV})^2 / \sqrt{\lambda_\phi}$ Hz, which falls within the LISA window for $m_\phi \sim \lambda_\phi^{1/4} \times \text{MeV}$ [163]. The differences in tidal deformability of scalar stars [164–166] and the possibility of en-

The differences in tidal deformability of scalar stars [164–166] and the possibility of energy loss through scalar radiation provide avenues for distinguishing their gravitational wave signatures from those of neutron stars and black holes. In certain cases, the gravitational wave output from the mergers of such scalar stars can exceed that of their corresponding mass black-hole counterparts [158, 159].

Finally, asymmetric DM comprised of fermions can also form stable compact objects [167, 168]. Typically, self interactions are required to allow for efficient formation, see for example Ref. [169] for a recent discussion. The resulting fermion stars, due to Fermi repulsion, are in general less compact compared to boson stars in the absence of additional strong attractive interactions. As for the case of boson stars these scenarios can be distinguished through differences in tidal deformability [170].

4.2 Captured DM

Small (sub-Chandrasekhar-mass) PBHs constituting a significant fraction of DM could be efficiently captured in DM-rich environments by neutron stars (or white dwarfs). A captured black hole, growing within the star, will eventually consume the host. This can lead to novel multi-messenger coincidence signatures with GWs (e.g. a kilonova without a binary merger GW counterpart) as well as the appearance of binaries with solar-mass black holes that typically do not arise in standard astrophysics [171–173].

Alternatively, neutron star properties can be modified in the presence of particle DM. This can lead to observable deviations in the BNS mergers probed by both current and future GW observatories. Effects considered thus far in the literature include modifications to the tidal deformability through the presence of DM in the NS core [174, 175] as well as by extended DM clouds around coalescing NSs [176], axionic induced fifth-forces [177,178] and long-range dark forces affecting the inspiral phase [179–184]. In addition, many of these effects will also be present in extreme-mass-ratio inspirals (EMRIs), where the duration of the waveform will be observable for significantly longer periods of time in comparison to LIGO/VIRGO NS-NS binaries.

4.3 Black hole mimickers

Several proposed horizonless compact objects mimic the space-time of black holes at large distances as well as in the vicinity of the photon ring. Such objects are referred to as clean-photon sphere objects (ClePhOs). ClePhOs violate the Buchdahl limit by violating one or several of its axioms [147], such as in alternative gravitational theories [185]. Abundant ClePhOs may form a sub-fraction of DM, and will be subject to the same constraints as PBHs; we will describe a few examples here. *Gravastars* [186] are supported by negative pressure from radiative QFT effects in curved space-times, and do not necessarily require new physics. Stable gravastars may exist for a range in compactness [187]. *Wormholes* [188] connect different regions of space-time. Solutions with different geometries exist, and can have any mass or compactness. Their stability and formation depends on the theory of (modified) gravity, though generically they are unstable [189]. *Anisotropic stars* are ECOs subject to large anisotropic stresses. Although covariant studies of anisotropic stars are challenging, it is believed they can exist for a wide range in mass and compactness [190]. ClePhOs may partake in binary mergers, and can be distinguished from black holes through their nonzero tidal Love numbers [191], which leads to higher order post-Newtonian corrections (tidal heating at 2.5PN, tidal deformability at 5PN) [192]. EMRIs hold a unique potential to probe black hole mimickers, as any nonzero tidal Love number of the central object leads to large post-Newtonian deviations of the gravitational waveform in the long inspiral phase, creating a clear signature of a non-standard BH-BH inspiral scenario [193].

5 Direct DM detection with GW experiments

5.1 Searches with interferometers

Cold DM particles with sub-eV masses feature in general large occupation numbers of lowmomentum states. This is a consequence of the high number densities required to yield the observed DM energy density. Sub-eV cold dark matter (CDM) is hence typically described in terms of classical fields rather than distinct particles (as already discussed in Sec. 3.2). For DM masses around 10^{-13} to 10^{-12} eV, the DM field oscillation frequencies match the best sensitivity of LIGO (~ 100 Hz). The DM fields are expected to be in coherent oscillation over length scales of $\ell_{\rm coh.} \sim 10^6$ km in the Milky Way, and might exhibit topological defects depending on the details of the production mechanism [194]. A wide class of sub-eV CDM models exist, and, as we will discuss below, the optical cavities of gravitational wave detectors have a unique potential to provide complementary probes to previously unconstrained parts of the sub-eV DM parameter space. However, there are also situations where significantly heavier DM can be constrained using interferometers. For instance, if DM is composite with a super-Planckian mass (e.g., if DM is made of "dark blobs") and interacts with baryons via a longrange mediator, it can induce an observable acceleration on interferometer elements [195]. Furthermore, Ref. [196] recently proposed optical cavities as sensitive probes to detect the Brownian motion caused by interacting electroweak-scale DM particles.

Dark photons. Ultra-light dark photons, produced via the mis-alignment mechanism, can constitute all of dark matter [197–199]. If this dark photon DM (DPDM) is associated with the $U(1)_B$ or $U(1)_{B-L}$ symmetries, DPDM couples directly to baryon or neutron number and hence acts as a fifth force. The strongest constraints on such scenarios come from tests of the weak equivalence principle [200, 201]. In Ref. [202] it was shown that DPDM with masses around 10^{-13} to 10^{-12} eV can potentially lead to GW signatures that are similar to monochromatic stochastic GWs. Since the coherence length of DPDM in this mass-range is much larger than the separation between various GW detectors on Earth (or the future LISA detector), the crosscorrelation between measurements from individual GW detectors can be used significantly enhance the signal-to-noise ratio of the otherwise stochastic signal. The first searches for DPDM, using LIGO's first observing run from the detectors in Hanford and Livingston, O1, have been conducted [203], and the constraints obtained already exceed those of fifth force searches for DM masses $m \sim 10^{-14} - 10^{-13}$ eV. Both methodological improvements of the analysis technique and additional data have the potential to further strengthen constraints on the coupling parameter ϵ^2 by more than an order of magnitude. On the other hand, the future LISA detector will probe DM masses around $m \sim 10^{-17}$ eV.

Axions. The presence of axion DM affects the propagation of photons by inducing minuscule changes in the phase velocity of circularly polarized light. The authors of Ref. [204] (see also Refs. [205–207]) have proposed a new scheme for exploiting and enhancing this effect in the linear optical cavities of gravitational wave detection experiments. The basic idea is to inject a linearly polarized laser beam into the optical cavities and search for the generation of orthorgonally polarized light, which would be a signature of axion DM. The detection strategy is thought to be resilient against the most common systematics that plague GW detectors, since they would affect both circular polarizations in similar ways. Projected sensitivies indicate that this search strategy can probe axion masses below around 10^{-11} eV—up to three orders of magnitude below the current helioscope bound from the CAST experiment [208, 209].

General searches. Ref. [210] (see also Ref. [211]) studies the effects of bosonic sub-eV DM fields coupling to the photon kinetic or the fermion mass terms. Coherent oscillations of dark matter fields or the collisional encounters of topological defects induce spatial and temporal variations of physical constants. Recently, various clock-clock comparison experiments have been conducted to search for time varying physical constants [212, 213]. These experiments are mainly sensitive to sub-Hz frequencies, with DM masses $m \lesssim 10^{-15}$ eV. Searches with the cryogenic resonant-mass detector AURIGA [214] provide the most sensitive constraints on a narrow frequency around a kHz. In the optical cavities of GW detectors, the variation of physical constants leads (like in the case of DPDM) to additional forces on the freely suspended mirrors, as well as variations of the extent of the beam splitter (through variations of the Bohr radius) and its optical index. Ref. [210] shows that (Fabry-Perot-)Michelson interferometers, like GEO 600 and Advanced LIGO (for DM masses $m = 10^{-13} - 10^{-11}$ eV) or the future LISA (for $m = 10^{-16} - 10^{-18}$ eV), have the potential to probe scalar DM models in previously unconstrained regions of the parameter space. Minor modifications of the experimental configurations (e.g. changing the thickness of Fabry-Perot mirrors in one of the arms) can lead to significant enhancements of the DM reach.

5.2 Searches with PTAs

Millisecond pulsars are excellent clocks, emitting radiation at regular intervals over long periods of time. Given their stability, these objects are ideal for searches of GWs in the nHz frequency range [215, 216]. The presence of GWs causes variations in the time of arrival of the electromagnetic pulses, and worldwide efforts are underway to detect the stochastic GW background using pulsar timing arrays (PTAs). Notably, the International Pulsar Timing Array (IPTA) [217] is a consortium of three collaborations: the North American Nanohertz Observatory for gravitational waves [218], the European Pulsar Timing Array [219], and the Parkes Pulsar Timing Array [220, 221]. The first IPTA data release contains 49 millisecond pulsars that have been observed for 5-30 years with μ s precision [217]. Future experiments such as the Square Kilometre Array (SKA) will achieve a much greater sensitivity over current PTAs by finding many new stable millisecond pulsars with better timing precision [222]. While one of the main goals of PTAs is to detect the stochastic GW background, expected to arise primarily from binaries of supermassive black holes, PTAs are also sensitive to the time-varying gravitational potentials that arise in certain models of DM.

Substructure and compact objects. Massive objects, such as DM subhalos, UCMHs, and PBHs, passing near the Earth-pulsar system can cause a shift in the expected time of arrival of the pulses through two possible mechanisms: the Shapiro time delay [223] and the Doppler effect [224]. The Shapiro delay occurs when the travel time of a pulse is altered due to the presence of a gravitational potential of a transiting object [223, 225–229], while the Doppler effect arises from the object accelerating the Earth or pulsar as it passes by [224, 225, 229]. These two detection strategies cover a wide range of object masses, from $10^{-12} M_{\odot}$ to above 100 M_{\odot} , complementing lensing searches at low masses and LIGO and LISA searches at high masses.

Fuzzy DM. Another possibility is DM as an ultralight scalar field. For particles of mass m and velocity v, the corresponding de Broglie wavelength is

$$\lambda_{\rm dB} \approx 600 \ {\rm pc} \left(\frac{10^{-23} \ {\rm eV}}{m} \right) \left(\frac{10^{-3}}{v} \right).$$
 (2)

The wave nature of the DM stabilizes it from collapse on scales of λ_{dB} , smoothing out inhomogeneities on smaller scales and thereby suppressing structure [230]. For DM within the Galaxy, the scalar field behaves classically. Its pressure oscillates with an angular frequency $\omega \approx 2m$ and induces oscillations in the gravitational potential [231]. DM masses of $m \sim 10^{-23}$ eV are particularly interesting, since the oscillation frequency $f \sim 5 \times 10^{-8} (m/10^{-22} \text{ eV})$ Hz is in the sensitivity range of PTAs. Current limits constrains the ultralight DM density to be below 6 GeV/cm³ for masses $m \leq 10^{-23}$ eV [232].

6 Non-perturbative DM dynamics

Non-perturbative production and dynamics of DM can give rise to an observable stochastic GW background. In this section we consider two main possibilities: GWs sourced by the breakdown of coherent oscillations of a scalar DM candidate, and GWs sourced by the non-perturbative production of DM. In each of these scenarios, further dedicated studies will be necessary to pin down the exact relationship between the GW spectrum and the mass and dynamics of the particular DM candidate in question. Nevertheless, the detection of a signal will be a clear sign of new physics.

Homogeneous, oscillating scalar fields provide attractive DM candidates. In the absence of self-interactions, their energy density clusters gravitationally on cosmological time-scales, essentially behaving as CDM on scales larger than the de Broglie scale [230]. However, when such fields have significant attractive self-interactions, their homogeneous oscillations are unstable to spatial perturbations, leading to self-resonance (parametric and tachyonic), rapid fragmentation, and spatial clustering in the condensate (including formation of solitonic configurations) [233–236]. Such rapid fragmentation can source a stochastic background of GWs [237–239].

Bosonic DM can also be efficiently produced as a daughter field through non-perturbative mechanisms akin to preheating in the early universe (for a review, see [240]). For example, such mechanisms have been proposed as an efficient means of producing cold vector DM as light as 10^{-20} eV [199, 229, 241, 242]. Such exponential particle production and ensuing nonlinear dynamics can again source a stochastic gravitational wave background due to time dependent anisotropies in the energy-momentum tensor [243–245]. A Chern-Simons coupling between an axion and a dark-photon field strength tensor of the form $(a/f_a)X^{\mu\nu}\tilde{X}_{\mu\nu}$, where f_a is the axion decay constant, causes a tachyonic instability in one of the dark-photon helicities. This leads to a spectrum of chiral GWs where the amplitude is controlled by $f_a/m_{\rm pl}$, while the frequency is determined by the axion mass. In particular, the QCD axion can be probed by PTAs if the Chern-Simons coupling is large enough [246].

Nonlinear dynamics of energy densities resulting from the fragmentation of a condensate and production of daughter fields can lead to a detectable stochastic background only if (i) a substantial fraction of the total energy density participates in the production of GWs; (ii) it does so at sufficiently late times (low energies); and (iii) the fragmentation scale is not too small compared to the size of the horizon at the time of production [238, 240, 247, 248]. For fields that eventually constitute all of the DM in the late Universe, however, it is non-trivial to get their energy fraction to be significant in the early Universe.

7 Phase Transitions

Phase transitions (PTs) occur when the vacuum state of a theory changes, for example, when a symmetry breaks spontaneously. Phase transitions that feature a discontinuity in the first

derivative of the free energy are first-order and inhomogeneous. Bubbles of the new vacuum nucleate in a background of the old vacuum, and as the new vacuum is energetically favored, they expand. Gravitational wave radiation is associated with the collisions of bubbles, as well as the acoustic waves and turbulence in the plasma coupled to the bubble wall.

The GW spectrum from a first order phase transition (FOPT) is expected to follow a broken power-law, which peaks at a frequency roughly set by the inverse size of the bubbles at collision redshifted to the present time, $f_{\text{peak}} \sim R_*^{-1}(a_*/a_0)$ [249–255]. For transitions which occur during radiation-domination, such as weakly-first-order phase transitions, the peak frequency is predominantly set by the nucleation temperature. PTAs are sensitive to $T_N \sim 10^{-6} - 10^{-4}$ GeV, space-based interferometers such as LISA are sensitive to PTs around the EW-scale ($T_N \sim 10^{-1} - 10^3$ GeV), and ground-based interferometers are sensitive to PTs at higher scales $T_N \sim 10^5$ GeV [256].

Because the Standard Model (SM) does not feature a first-order phase transition [257,258], an observed GW background of this kind would point uniquely to new physics (for examples see Refs. [259,260]). An observable background also implies that at least an $\mathcal{O}(10^{-2}-10^{-1})$ fraction of the energy density of the Universe was coupled to the order parameter. In this section we review scenarios in which dark matter or a hidden sector generates a FOPT.

7.1 The electroweak phase transition

A strongly first-order electroweak phase transition is a necessary ingredient for electroweak baryogenesis. As such, there are a variety of well-studied mechanisms for generating such a phase transition. For example, it is well known that the addition of a scalar singlet to the SM can promote the SM electroweak phase transition from second-order to first-order by providing an additional cubic term to the effective potential (see e.g. [261–263]). If this singlet has an additional \mathbb{Z}_2 -symmetry, it can also serve as a DM candidate [264], although this condition necessitates that the singlet is a sub-dominant component of the DM relic abundance [265]. A singlet scalar can generate Majorana neutrino mass and produce sterile neutrinos with the correct DM relic abundance [266–268].

Models in which new scalars are charged under the SM gauge groups can also impact the electroweak phase transition; the simplest realization of this type of scenario is the addition of a second scalar doublet to the SM Higgs sector, known as the two-Higgs-doublet model (2HDM). There are many variations of 2HDMs, several of which contain DM candidates [269] and can lead to a sizable gravitational wave signature [270]. Thermal loops of bosons from beyond-Standard-Model (BSM) theories are also a source for a large cubic term in the finite temperature effective potential, and occur in the minimal supersymmetric extension of the SM (MSSM) through the stop squark loop [271], provided that the mass of the lightest stop is below that of the top quark. However, this minimal scenario is in tension with LHC data. Instead, one can consider singlet extensions of the MSSM, for which there are still viable regions of parameter space in which strong electroweak phase transitions are allowed [272]. Finally, the electroweak phase transition can be modified to feature a nearly-conformal potential, inducing a very strong first-order electroweak phase transition. Such possibilities include which also include a dark matter state are composite or Randall-Sundrum models [273–275] and extended gauge sector models [276, 277]. The key point is that for typical electroweak phase transitions, the relevant dimensionful parameters are near the electroweak scale, and thus could potentially be probed by space-based interferometers like LISA.

7.2 Phase transitions in hidden sectors

There are a variety of dynamics associated with a FOPT in a hidden sector that can directly affect the production of the observed DM relic abundance. The first, most widely explored

opportunity, is a dark Higgs generating masses in the hidden sector. In this context, the phase transition is not necessarily first-order, nor does it provide direct information into the DM micro-physics. However, models featuring a large number of either gauge bosons or scalars thermally induce sizable potential barriers yielding strong first-order phase transitions [278, 279]. The gauge structure of such models, as well as any additional field content of the theory, all lead to observable deviations in the GW signal [279]. Note that producing an observable GW signal requires that the hidden sector is at least partially thermalized, so BBN and $\Delta N_{\rm eff}$ constraints place strong lower bounds on the scale at which the phase transition can occur [280, 281].

Another distinct opportunity relies on phase transitions that occur at a much lower temperature than the critical temperature—a phenomenon termed *supercooling*. Given sufficient supercooling, the phase transition drives a period of inflation which dilutes the DM relic density, followed by insufficient reheating to re-thermalize the DM [282–284]. For example, the supercooling of the electroweak phase transition down to QCD temperatures leads to sizable GW signatures and affects the abundance of QCD axion DM [283, 285, 286]. Alternatively, the collision of sufficiently energetic bubble walls can lead to non-thermal production of DM [287–290]. In the latter case, DM significantly heavier than the scale of the electroweak phase transition ($M_{\rm DM} \lesssim 10^8$ GeV) can be produced.

7.3 Hidden sector confinement

If the dark sector features a gauge coupling that grows large in the IR, i.e. dark QCD, confinement of dark quarks or gauge bosons will occur. An analytic argument by Pisarski and Wilczek in 1983 [291] determines the confining phase transition to be first order for $N_F \ge 3$ light quark flavors at the time of confinement.³

Hidden sector confinement has been studied recently in the context of dark quark nuggets [293], as well as solutions to the strong CP problem [294, 295]. Models of confinement invariably predict states around the confinement scale, as well as lighter pions. Therefore, a GW spectrum from a confining phase transition could motivate a collider search for states charged under dark QCD.

Another potential avenue for studies of DM utilizes the accumulation of DM in front of the bubble wall. As the bubble walls collide, the DM becomes trapped, leading to the formation of large bound states, which can have implications for a number of search strategies such as microlensing and gravitational wave detection [293, 296, 297].

8 Discussion and conclusions

We summarise current and future avenues for constraining dark matter using gravitational waves in Fig. 2. The range of possible constraints is impressive, as it spans a wide range of detection techniques and DM candidates and almost 90 orders of magnitude in DM candidate mass.

We also remark that GWs allow us to constrain alternative theories of gravity, some of which have been proposed as alternatives to particle DM. The coincident observation of electromagnetic radiation and GWs from the merger of two neutron stars [2] has for instance already provided stringent constraints on theories of modified gravity in which photons travel on different geodesics with respect to GWs [298–300].

The connection between DM and GWs remains, however, largely unexplored, and much

³Although the argument relies on an expansion which breaks down for thermal phase transitions, the result is commonly accepted, and demonstrated on the lattice for $N_F = 6$ [292].



Constraints Axion forces [178] QCD Axion (GW/Radio) [132] EMRI dephasing [111, 112] Axion DM [204] Bubble collision DM [289] Rolling axions [246] Dark Photon DM [202] Dark blobs [195] PBH mergers [56, 62] BH-boson condensate [121, 122] Hidden-sector scalars [279, 280] BH spin distribution [121, 122] Boson stars [157, 158, 163, 166] PBH/sub-halo transits [228, 229]

Figure 2: Summary of possible gravitational wave constraints on dark matter. We show the ranges of DM mass which are covered by potential constraints from gravitational waves, using current interferometers (blue), future interferometers (green) and Pulsar Timing Arrays (red). Some representative references for each constraint are shown in the table on the right. See the main text for further details and references.

remains to be done to improve existing constraints and to assess in a more complete and robust fashion the prospects for identifying DM using future experiments. We highlight here a list of challenges and open questions for each of the research areas discussed above:

- Primordial black holes. What is the initial distribution of PBHs and how does it affect the GW signal and other probes? Can observations help us discriminate between different PBH production scenarios? How can we probe sub-lunar mass PBHs constituting DM? What type of radiation is emitted by accreting PBHs? Are PBHs the seeds of supermassive BHs? How do constraints on PBHs change in the presence of other DM candidates?
- Environmental effects. What is the effect of an inspiraling object on the DM halo surrounding an intermediate-mass or supermassive black hole? Is the halo disrupted, or destroyed? How common and robust is such a DM overdensity? And would its presence be detectable through a dephasing in the gravitational waveform?
- Exotic Compact Objects. What is their formation history and their distribution in the Galaxy? What is the impact on the number of predicted events and on the amplitude of the stochastic gravitational wave background they induce?
- Direct detection with GW experiments. What modifications of current and upcoming interferometers would maximize the sensitivity to DM models without jeopardizing gravitational wave searches? What would we learn about the nature of DM from the detection of subhalos with PTAs?

- Non-perturbative DM dynamics. Thorough analyses have been performed mostly in the context of the very early Universe, where the typical GW frequencies are much higher than any current experiment. Is it possible to get a measurable GW signal in the case of fragmentation of a coherent field or non-perturbative particle production in the relatively late Universe?
- **Phase transitions.** A broken power law in the stochastic background would imply new physics comprising a large fraction of the energy density at the time of the transition. Can we break the degeneracy among models predicting this feature, e.g. by searching for new states with masses at scales similar to that of the nucleation temperature of the phase transition?

In conclusion, we believe that the time is ripe for investigating the many connections between GWs and DM, and we encourage a strong community effort to further explore the interface between these two exciting fields of research.

Acknowledgments

We thank Robert Caldwell, Vitor Cardoso, Jeff Dror, Thomas Edwards, Alex Kusenko, Ranjan Laha, David Morrissey, Rafael Porto, Nirmal Raj, Pedro Schwaller, Géraldine Servant, Chen Sun, and David Weir for useful comments and suggestions. This work was initiated and performed in part at the Aspen Center for Physics, which is supported by National Science Foundation grant PHY-1607611.

References

- [1] B. P. Abbott et al., *Observation of gravitational waves from a binary black hole merger*, Phys. Rev. Lett. **116**, 061102 (2016), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.116.061102.
- [2] B. P. Abbott et al., GW170817: Observation of gravitational waves from a binary neutron star inspiral, Phys. Rev. Lett. 119, 161101 (2017), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.119.161101.
- [3] B. P. Abbott et al., *Multi-messenger observations of a binary neutron star merger*, Astrophys. J. **848**, L12 (2017), doi:10.3847/2041-8213/aa91c9.
- [4] B. P. Abbott et al., GWTC-1: A Gravitational-wave transient catalog of compact binary mergers observed by LIGO and Virgo during the first and second observing runs, Phys. Rev. X 9, 031040 (2019), doi:10.1103/PhysRevX.9.031040.
- [5] D. Shoemaker, *Gravitational wave astronomy with LIGO and similar detectors in the next decade* (2019), arXiv:1904.03187.
- [6] P. Amaro-Seoane et al., *eLISA: Astrophysics and cosmology in the millihertz regime* (2012), arXiv:1201.3621.
- [7] P. Amaro-Seoane et al., Laser interferometer space antenna (2017), arXiv:1702.00786.
- [8] B. Sathyaprakash et al., *Scientific objectives of Einstein telescope*, Class. Quantum Grav. 29, 124013 (2012), doi:10.1088/0264-9381/29/12/124013.

- [9] G. Hobbs et al., The international pulsar timing array project: using pulsars as a gravitational wave detector, Class. Quantum Grav. 27, 084013 (2010), doi:10.1088/0264-9381/27/8/084013.
- [10] M. Kramer and D. J. Champion, *The European pulsar timing array and the large European array for pulsars*, Class. Quantum Grav. **30**, 224009 (2013), doi:10.1088/0264-9381/30/22/224009.
- [11] L. Barack et al., *Black holes, gravitational waves and fundamental physics: a roadmap,* Class. Quantum Grav. **36**, 143001 (2019), doi:10.1088/1361-6382/ab0587.
- [12] Y. B. Zel'dovich and I. Novikov, *The hypothesis of cores retarded during expansion and the hot cosmological model*, Sov. Astron. **10**, 602 (1967).
- [13] B. J. Carr and S. W. Hawking, *Black holes in the early universe*, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. **168**, 399 (1974), doi:10.1093/mnras/168.2.399.
- [14] G. F. Chapline, Cosmological effects of primordial black holes, Nature 253, 251 (1975), doi:10.1038/253251a0.
- [15] T. Nakamura, M. Sasaki, T. Tanaka and K. S. Thorne, *Gravitational waves from coalescing black hole MACHO binaries*, Astrophys. J. 487, L139 (1997), doi:10.1086/310886.
- [16] S. Clesse and J. García-Bellido, Massive primordial black holes from hybrid inflation as dark matter and the seeds of galaxies, Phys. Rev. D 92, 023524 (2015), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.92.023524.
- [17] S. Bird, I. Cholis, J. B. Muñoz, Y. Ali-Haïmoud, M. Kamionkowski, E. D. Kovetz, A. Raccanelli and A. G. Riess, *Did LIGO detect dark matter*?, Phys. Rev. Lett. **116**, 201301 (2016), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.116.201301.
- [18] R. H. Cyburt, B. D. Fields, K. A. Olive and T.-H. Yeh, Big bang nucleosynthesis: Present status, Rev. Mod. Phys. 88, 015004 (2016), doi:10.1103/RevModPhys.88.015004.
- [19] B. J. Carr, K. Kohri, Y. Sendouda and J. Yokoyama, New cosmological constraints on primordial black holes, Phys. Rev. D 81, 104019 (2010), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.81.104019.
- [20] E. N. Kirby, M. Boylan-Kolchin, J. G. Cohen, M. Geha, J. S. Bullock and M. Kaplinghat, Segue 2: The Least Massive Galaxy, Astrophys. J. 770, 16 (2013), doi:10.1088/0004-637X/770/1/16.
- [21] P. Tisserand et al., Limits on the Macho content of the Galactic Halo from the EROS-2 Survey of the Magellanic Clouds, Astron. Astrophys. 469, 387 (2007), doi:10.1051/0004-6361:20066017.
- [22] S. Calchi Novati, S. Mirzoyan, Ph. Jetzer and G. Scarpetta, *Microlensing towards the SMC: a new analysis of OGLE and EROS results*, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 435, 1582 (2013), doi:10.1093/mnras/stt1402.
- [23] H. Niikura et al., *Microlensing constraints on primordial black holes with Subaru/HSC Andromeda observations*, Nat. Astron. **3**, 524 (2019), doi:10.1038/s41550-019-0723-1.
- [24] M. Zumalacárregui and U. Seljak, Limits on stellar-mass compact objects as dark matter from gravitational lensing of type Ia supernovae, Phys. Rev. Lett. 121, 141101 (2018), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.121.141101.

- [25] T. D. Brandt, Constrains on MACHO dark matter from compact stellar syste,s in ultra-faint dwarf galaxies, Astrophys. J. 824, L31 (2016), doi:10.3847/2041-8205/824/2/L31.
- [26] M. A. Monroy-Rodríguez and C. Allen, The end of the MACHO era, revisited: New limits on MACHO masses from HALO wide binaries, Astrophys. J. 790, 159 (2014), doi:10.1088/0004-637X/790/2/159.
- [27] Y. Ali-Haïmoud and M. Kamionkowski, Cosmic microwave background limits on accreting primordial black holes, Phys. Rev. D 95, 043534 (2017), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.95.043534.
- [28] V. Poulin, P. D. Serpico, F. Calore, S. Clesse and K. Kohri, CMB bounds on disk-accreting massive primordial black holes, Phys. Rev. D 96, 083524 (2017), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.96.083524.
- [29] J. García-Bellido, A. Linde and D. Wands, *Density perturbations and black hole formation in hybrid inflation*, Phys. Rev. D **54**, 6040 (1996), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.54.6040.
- [30] D. H. Lyth, Contribution of the hybrid inflation waterfall to the primordial curvature perturbation, J. Cosmol. Astropart. Phys. 035 (2011), doi:10.1088/1475-7516/2011/07/035.
- [31] M. Kawasaki, N. Kitajima and T. T. Yanagida, Primordial black hole formation from an axionlike curvaton model, Phys. Rev. D 87, 063519 (2013), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.87.063519.
- [32] A. Polnarev and R. Zembowicz, *Formation of primordial black holes by cosmic strings*, Phys. Rev. D **43**, 1106 (1991), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.43.1106.
- [33] J. H. MacGibbon, R. H. Brandenberger and U. F. Wichoski, *Limits on black hole formation from cosmic string loops*, Phys. Rev. D 57, 2158 (1998), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.57.2158.
- [34] E. Cotner and A. Kusenko, *Primordial black holes from supersymmetry in the early universe*, Phys. Rev. Lett. **119**, 031103 (2017), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.119.031103.
- [35] E. Cotner and A. Kusenko, Primordial black holes from scalar field evolution in the early universe, Phys. Rev. D 96, 103002 (2017), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.96.103002.
- [36] E. Cotner, A. Kusenko and V. Takhistov, Primordial black holes from inflaton fragmentation into oscillons, Phys. Rev. D 98, 083513 (2018), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.98.083513.
- [37] M. Kawasaki, K. Mukaida and T. T. Yanagida, Simple cosmological solution to the Higgs field instability problem in chaotic inflation and the formation of primordial black holes, Phys. Rev. D 94, 063509 (2016), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.94.063509.
- [38] J. R. Espinosa, D. Racco and A. Riotto, Cosmological signature of the Standard Model Higgs vacuum instability: Primordial black holes as dark matter, Phys. Rev. Lett. 120, 121301 (2018), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.120.121301.
- [39] T. Harada, C.-M. Yoo, K. Kohri and K.-I. Nakao, Spins of primordial black holes formed in the matter-dominated phase of the Universe, Phys. Rev. D 96, 083517 (2017), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.96.083517, [Erratum: Phys. Rev. D 99, 069904 (2019), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.99.069904].

- [40] B. P. Abbott et al., Binary black hole population properties inferred from the first and second observing runs of advanced LIGO and advanced Virgo, Astrophys. J. Lett. 882, L24 (2019), doi:10.3847/2041-8213/ab3800.
- [41] S. Matarrese, S. Mollerach and M. Bruni, *Relativistic second-order perturba*tions of the Einstein-de Sitter universe, Phys. Rev. D 58, 043504 (1998), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.58.043504.
- [42] R. Saito and J. Yokoyama, Gravitational-wave background as a probe of the primordial black-hole abundance, Phys. Rev. Lett. 102, 161101 (2009), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.102.161101.
- [43] E. Bugaev and P. Klimai, Constraints on the induced gravitational wave background from primordial black holes, Phys. Rev. D 83, 083521 (2011), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.83.083521.
- [44] N. Orlofsky, A. Pierce and J. D. Wells, Inflationary theory and pulsar timing investigations of primordial black holes and gravitational waves, Phys. Rev. D 95, 063518 (2017), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.95.063518.
- [45] K. Inomata, M. Kawasaki, K. Mukaida, Y. Tada and T. T. Yanagida, Inflationary primordial black holes for the LIGO gravitational wave events and pulsar timing array experiments, Phys. Rev. D 95, 123510 (2017), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.95.123510.
- [46] N. Bartolo, V. De Luca, G. Franciolini, A. Lewis, M. Peloso and A. Riotto, Primordial black hole dark matter: LISA serendipity, Phys. Rev. Lett. 122, 211301 (2019), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.122.211301.
- [47] R.-G. Cai, S. Pi and M. Sasaki, Gravitational waves induced by non-Gaussian scalar perturbations, Phys. Rev. Lett. 122, 201101 (2019), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.122.201101.
- [48] S. Shandera, D. Jeong and H. S. Grasshorn Gebhardt, Gravitational waves from binary mergers of subsolar mass dark black holes, Phys. Rev. Lett. 120, 241102 (2018), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.120.241102.
- [49] C. Kouvaris, P. Tinyakov and M. H. G. Tytgat, *Nonprimordial solar mass black holes*, Phys. Rev. Lett. **121**, 221102 (2018), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.121.221102.
- [50] S. Hild et al., Sensitivity studies for third-generation gravitational wave observatories, Class. Quantum Grav. **28**, 094013 (2011), doi:10.1088/0264-9381/28/9/094013.
- [51] S. M. Koushiappas and A. Loeb, *Maximum redshift of gravitational wave merger events*, Phys. Rev. Lett. **119**, 221104 (2017), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.119.221104.
- [52] Z.-C. Chen and Q.-G. Huang, Distinguishing primordial black holes from astrophysical black holes by Einstein Telescope and Cosmic Explorer, J. Cosmol. Astropart. Phys. 039 (2020), doi:10.1088/1475-7516/2020/08/039.
- [53] K. Ioka, T. Chiba, T. Tanaka and T. Nakamura, Black hole binary formation in the expanding universe: Three body problem approximation, Phys. Rev. D 58, 063003 (1998), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.58.063003.
- [54] M. Sasaki, T. Suyama, T. Tanaka and S. Yokoyama, Primordial black hole scenario for the gravitational-wave event GW150914, Phys. Rev. Lett. 117, 061101 (2016), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.117.061101, [Erratum: Phys. Rev. Lett. 121, 059901 (2018), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.121.059901].

- [55] S. Bird, I. Cholis, J. B. Muñoz, Y. Ali-Haïmoud, M. Kamionkowski, E. D. Kovetz, A. Raccanelli and A. G. Riess, *Did LIGO detect dark matter*?, Phys. Rev. Lett. **116**, 201301 (2016), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.116.201301.
- [56] Y. Ali-Haïmoud, E. D. Kovetz and M. Kamionkowski, Merger rate of primordial black-hole binaries, Phys. Rev. D 96, 123523 (2017), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.96.123523.
- [57] K. Hayasaki, K. Takahashi, Y. Sendouda and S. Nagataki, *Rapid merger of binary primordial black holes: An implication for GW150914*, Publ. Astron. Soc. Jpn 68, 66 (2016), doi:10.1093/pasj/psw065.
- [58] M. Raidal, V. Vaskonen and H. Veermäe, Gravitational waves from primordial black hole mergers, J. Cosmol. Astropart. Phys. 037 (2017), doi:10.1088/1475-7516/2017/09/037.
- [59] Z.-C. Chen and Q.-G. Huang, *Merger rate distribution of primordial black hole binaries*, Astrophys. J. **864**, 61 (2018), doi:10.3847/1538-4357/aad6e2.
- [60] G. Ballesteros, P. D. Serpico and M. Taoso, On the merger rate of primordial black holes: effects of nearest neighbours distribution and clustering, J. Cosmol. Astropart. Phys. 043 (2018), doi:10.1088/1475-7516/2018/10/043.
- [61] K. M. Belotsky et al., Clusters of primordial black holes, Eur. Phys. J. C 79, 246 (2019), doi:10.1140/epjc/s10052-019-6741-4.
- [62] B. J. Kavanagh, D. Gaggero and G. Bertone, Merger rate of a subdominant population of primordial black holes, Phys. Rev. D 98, 023536 (2018), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.98.023536.
- [63] T. Bringmann, P.F. Depta, V. Domcke and K. Schmidt-Hoberg, *Towards closing the window of primordial black holes as dark matter: The case of large clustering*, Phys. Rev. D 99, 063532 (2019), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.99.063532.
- [64] M. Raidal, C. Spethmann, V. Vaskonen and H. Veermäe, Formation and evolution of primordial black hole binaries in the early universe, J. Cosmol. Astropart. Phys. 018 (2019), doi:10.1088/1475-7516/2019/02/018.
- [65] M. Sasaki, T. Suyama, T. Tanaka and S. Yokoyama, Primordial black holes—perspectives in gravitational wave astronomy, Class. Quantum Grav. 35, 063001 (2018), doi:10.1088/1361-6382/aaa7b4.
- [66] I. Cholis, E. D. Kovetz, Y. Ali-Haïmoud, S. Bird, M. Kamionkowski, J. B. Muñoz and A. Raccanelli, Orbital eccentricities in primordial black hole binaries, Phys. Rev. D 94, 084013 (2016), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.94.084013.
- [67] E. D. Kovetz, Probing primordial black hole dark matter with gravitational waves, Phys. Rev. Lett. 119, 131301 (2017), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.119.131301.
- [68] N. Fernandez and S. Profumo, Unraveling the origin of black holes from effective spin measurements with LIGO-Virgo, J. Cosmol. Astropart. Phys. 022 (2019), doi:10.1088/1475-7516/2019/08/022.
- [69] A. Arbey, J. Auffinger and J. Silk, *Evolution of primordial black hole spin due to Hawking radiation*, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. **494**, 1257 (2020), doi:10.1093/mnras/staa765.

- [70] R. P. Fender, T. J. Maccarone and I. Heywood, *The closest black holes*, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 430, 1538 (2013), doi:10.1093/mnras/sts688.
- [71] D. Gaggero, G. Bertone, F. Calore, R. M. T. Connors, M. Lovell, S. Markoff and E. Storm, Searching for primordial black holes in the radio and X-ray sky, Phys. Rev. Lett. 118, 241101 (2017), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.118.241101.
- [72] J. Manshanden, D. Gaggero, G. Bertone, R. M.T. Connors and M. Ricotti, *Multi-wavelength astronomical searches for primordial black holes*, J. Cosmol. Astropart. Phys. 026 (2019), doi:10.1088/1475-7516/2019/06/026.
- [73] S. Jung and C. Sub Shin, Gravitational-wave fringes at LIGO: Detecting compact dark matter by gravitational lensing, Phys. Rev. Lett. 122, 041103 (2019), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.122.041103.
- [74] K. J. Mack, J. P. Ostriker and M. Ricotti, Growth of structure seeded by primordial black holes, Astrophys. J. 665, 1277 (2007), doi:10.1086/518998.
- [75] M. Ricotti, Bondi accretion in the early universe, Astrophys. J. 662, 53 (2007), doi:10.1086/516562.
- [76] E. Bertschinger, Self-similar secondary infall and accretion in an Einstein-de Sitter universe, Astrophys. J. Suppl. 58, 39 (1985), doi:10.1086/191028.
- [77] M. Gosenca, J. Adamek, C. T. Byrnes and S. Hotchkiss, 3D simulations with boosted primordial power spectra and ultracompact minihalos, Phys. Rev. D 96, 123519 (2017), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.96.123519.
- [78] J. Adamek, C. T. Byrnes, M. Gosenca and S. Hotchkiss, WIMPs and stellarmass primordial black holes are incompatible, Phys. Rev. D 100, 023506 (2019), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.100.023506.
- [79] B. Bertoni, D. Hooper and T. Linden, Examining The Fermi-LAT Third Source Catalog in search of dark matter subhalos, J. Cosmol. Astropart. Phys. 035 (2015), doi:10.1088/1475-7516/2015/12/035.
- [80] D. Hooper and S. J. Witte, Gamma rays from dark matter subhalos revisited: refining the predictions and constraints, J. Cosmol. Astropart. Phys. 018 (2017), doi:10.1088/1475-7516/2017/04/018.
- [81] D. Schoonenberg, J. Gaskins, G. Bertone and J. Diemand, Dark matter subhalos and unidentified sources in the Fermi 3FGL source catalog, J. Cosmol. Astropart. Phys. 028 (2016), doi:10.1088/1475-7516/2016/05/028.
- [82] J. E. Taylor and J. Silk, The Clumpiness of cold dark matter: Implications for the annihilation signal, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 339, 505 (2003), doi:10.1046/j.1365-8711.2003.06201.x.
- [83] P. Ullio, L. Bergström, J. Edsjö and C. Lacey, *Cosmological dark matter annihilations into γ rays: A closer look*, Phys. Rev. D 66, 123502 (2002), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.66.123502.
- [84] S. Ando, *Can dark matter annihilation dominate the extragalactic gamma-ray back-ground?*, Phys. Rev. Lett. **94**, 171303 (2005), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.94.171303.
- [85] B. C. Lacki and J. F. Beacom, Primordial black holes as dark matter: Almost all or almost nothing, Astrophys. J. 720, L67 (2010), doi:10.1088/2041-8205/720/1/L67.

- [86] Yu. N. Eroshenko, Dark matter density spikes around primordial black holes, Astron. Lett.
 42, 347 (2016), doi:10.1134/S1063773716060013.
- [87] S. M. Boucenna, F. Kühnel, T. Ohlsson and L. Visinelli, Novel constraints on mixed darkmatter scenarios of primordial black holes and WIMPs, J. Cosmol. Astropart. Phys. 003 (2018), doi:10.1088/1475-7516/2018/07/003.
- [88] G. Bertone, A. M. Coogan, D. Gaggero, B. J. Kavanagh and C. Weniger, *Primordial black holes as silver bullets for new physics at the weak scale*, Phys. Rev. D 100, 123013 (2019), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.100.123013.
- [89] E. W. Kolb and I. I. Tkachev, *Large-amplitude isothermal fluctuations and high-density dark-matter clumps*, Phys. Rev. D **50**, 769 (1994), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.50.769.
- [90] V. I. Dokuchaev and Yu. N. Eroshenko, A common origin of neutralino stars and supermassive black holes, J. Exp. Theor. Phys. **94**, 1 (2002), doi:10.1134/1.1448602.
- [91] V. S. Berezinsky, V. I. Dokuchaev and Yu. N. Eroshenko, Formation and internal structure of superdense dark matter clumps and ultracompact minihaloes, J. Cosmol. Astropart. Phys. 059 (2013), doi:10.1088/1475-7516/2013/11/059.
- [92] T. Nakama, K. Kohri and J. Silk, Ultracompact minihalos associated with stellar-mass primordial black holes, Phys. Rev. D 99, 123530 (2019), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.99.123530.
- [93] M. Ricotti and A. Gould, A new probe of dark matter and high-energy universe using microlensing, Astrophys. J. 707, 979 (2009), doi:10.1088/0004-637X/707/2/979.
- [94] T. Bringmann, P. Scott and Y. Akrami, Improved constraints on the primordial power spectrum at small scales from ultracompact minihalos, Phys. Rev. D 85, 125027 (2012), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.85.125027.
- [95] F. Hasegawa and M. Kawasaki, *Cogenesis of LIGO primordial black holes and dark matter*, Phys. Rev. D **98**, 043514 (2018), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.98.043514.
- [96] D. Hooper, G. Krnjaic and S. D. McDermott, *Dark radiation and superheavy dark matter from black hole domination*, J. High Energ. Phys. **08**, 001 (2019), doi:10.1007/JHEP08(2019)001.
- [97] P. A. Seoane et al., The gravitational universe (2013), arXiv:1305.5720.
- [98] E. Barausse, V. Cardoso and P. Pani, Can environmental effects spoil precision gravitational-wave astrophysics?, Phys. Rev. D 89, 104059 (2014), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.89.104059.
- [99] E. Barausse, V. Cardoso and P. Pani, Environmental effects for gravitationalwave astrophysics, J. Phys.: Conf. Ser. 610, 012044 (2015), doi:10.1088/1742-6596/610/1/012044.
- [100] P. Gondolo and J. Silk, *Dark matter annihilation at the galactic center*, Phys. Rev. Lett. 83, 1719 (1999), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.83.1719.
- [101] P. Gondolo, Either neutralino dark matter or cuspy dark halos, Phys. Lett. B 494, 181 (2000), doi:10.1016/S0370-2693(00)01218-1.
- [102] P. Ullio, H. Zhao and M. Kamionkowski, *Dark-matter spike at the galactic center*?, Phys. Rev. D 64, 043504 (2001), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.64.043504.

- [103] G. Bertone, G. Sigl and J. Silk, Astrophysical limits on massive dark matter, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 326, 799 (2001), doi:10.1046/j.1365-8711.2001.04650.x.
- [104] D. Merritt, M. Milosavljević, L. Verde and R. Jimenez, Dark matter spikes and annihilation radiation from the galactic center, Phys. Rev. Lett. 88, 191301 (2002), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.88.191301.
- [105] G. Bertone and D. Merritt, *Time-dependent models for dark matter at the galactic center*, Phys. Rev. D **72**, 103502 (2005), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.72.103502.
- [106] D. Merritt, S. Harfst and G. Bertone, *Collisionally regenerated dark matter structures in galactic nuclei*, Phys. Rev. D **75**, 043517 (2007), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.75.043517.
- [107] G. Bertone, A. R. Zentner and J. Silk, New signature of dark matter annihilations: Gamma rays from intermediate-mass black holes, Phys. Rev. D 72, 103517 (2005), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.72.103517.
- [108] H. Zhao and J. Silk, Dark minihalos with intermediate mass black holes, Phys. Rev. Lett. 95, 011301 (2005), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.95.011301.
- [109] T. Bringmann, J. Lavalle and P. Salati, Intermediate mass black holes and nearby dark matter point sources: A critical reassessment, Phys. Rev. Lett. 103, 161301 (2009), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.103.161301.
- [110] C. F. B. Macedo, P. Pani, V. Cardoso and L. C. B. Crispino, Into the LAIR: Gravitationalwave signatures of dark matter, Astrophys. J. 774, 48 (2013), doi:10.1088/0004-637X/774/1/48.
- [111] K. Eda, Y. Itoh, S. Kuroyanagi and J. Silk, New probe of dark-matter properties: Gravitational waves from an intermediate-mass black hole embedded in a dark-matter minispike, Phys. Rev. Lett. 110, 221101 (2013), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.110.221101.
- [112] K. Eda, Y. Itoh, S. Kuroyanagi and J. Silk, *Gravitational waves as a probe of dark matter minispikes*, Phys. Rev. D 91, 044045 (2015), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.91.044045.
- [113] O. A. Hannuksela, K. C. Y. Ng and T. G. F. Li, *Extreme dark matter tests with extreme mass ratio inspirals* (2019), arXiv:1906.11845.
- [114] R. Brito, V. Cardoso and P. Pani, *Superradiance*, Springer International Publishing, Cham, ISBN 9783319189994 (2015), doi:10.1007/978-3-319-19000-6.
- [115] V. Cardoso, P. Pani and T.-T. Yu, Superradiance in rotating stars and pulsartiming constraints on dark photons, Phys. Rev. D 95, 124056 (2017), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.95.124056.
- [116] F. V. Day and J. I. McDonald, Axion superradiance in rotating neutron stars, J. Cosmol. Astropart. Phys. 051 (2019), doi:10.1088/1475-7516/2019/10/051.
- [117] A. Arvanitaki and S. Dubovsky, *Exploring the string axiverse with precision black hole physics*, Phys. Rev. D 83, 044026 (2011), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.83.044026.
- S. R. Dolan, Superradiant instabilities of rotating black holes in the time domain, Phys. Rev. D 87, 124026 (2013), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.87.124026.
- [119] R. Brito, V. Cardoso and P. Pani, Black holes as particle detectors: evolution of superradiant instabilities, Class. Quantum Grav. 32, 134001 (2015), doi:10.1088/0264-9381/32/13/134001.

- [120] W. E. East and F. Pretorius, Superradiant instability and backreaction of massive vector fields around Kerr black holes, Phys. Rev. Lett. 119, 041101 (2017), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.119.041101.
- [121] A. Arvanitaki, M. Baryakhtar and X. Huang, Discovering the QCD axion with black holes and gravitational waves, Phys. Rev. D 91, 084011 (2015), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.91.084011.
- [122] R. Brito, S. Ghosh, E. Barausse, E. Berti, V. Cardoso, I. Dvorkin, A. Klein and P. Pani, Gravitational wave searches for ultralight bosons with LIGO and LISA, Phys. Rev. D 96, 064050 (2017), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.96.064050.
- [123] M. Baryakhtar, R. Lasenby and M. Teo, Black hole superradiance signatures of ultralight vectors, Phys. Rev. D 96, 035019 (2017), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.96.035019.
- [124] D. Baumann, H. S. Chia and R. A. Porto, Probing ultralight bosons with binary black holes, Phys. Rev. D 99, 044001 (2019), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.99.044001.
- [125] O. A. Hannuksela, K. W. K. Wong, R. Brito, E. Berti and T. G. F. Li, Probing the existence of ultralight bosons with a single gravitational-wave measurement, Nat. Astron. 3, 447 (2019), doi:10.1038/s41550-019-0712-4.
- [126] J. G. Rosa and T. W. Kephart, Stimulated axion decay in superradiant clouds around primordial black holes, Phys. Rev. Lett. 120, 231102 (2018), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.120.231102.
- [127] T. Ikeda, R. Brito and V. Cardoso, *Blasts of light from axions*, Phys. Rev. Lett. **122**, 081101 (2019), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.122.081101.
- [128] H. Primakoff, *Photo-production of neutral mesons in nuclear electric fields and the mean life of the neutral meson*, Phys. Rev. **81**, 899 (1951), doi:10.1103/PhysRev.81.899.
- [129] F. P. Huang, K. Kadota, T. Sekiguchi and H. Tashiro, *Radio telescope search for the resonant conversion of cold dark matter axions from the magnetized astrophysical sources*, Phys. Rev. D 97, 123001 (2018), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.97.123001.
- [130] A. Hook, Y. Kahn, B. R. Safdi and Z. Sun, Radio signals from axion dark matter conversion in neutron star magnetospheres, Phys. Rev. Lett. 121, 241102 (2018), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.121.241102.
- [131] B. R. Safdi, Z. Sun and A. Y. Chen, Detecting axion dark matter with radio lines from neutron star populations, Phys. Rev. D 99, 123021 (2019), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.99.123021.
- [132] T. D. P. Edwards, M. Chianese, B. J. Kavanagh, S. M. Nissanke and C. Weniger, Unique multimessenger signal of QCD axion dark matter, Phys. Rev. Lett. 124, 161101 (2020), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.124.161101.
- [133] A. Weltman et al., Fundamental physics with the Square Kilometre Array, Publ. Astron. Soc. Aust. 37, e002 (2020), doi:10.1017/pasa.2019.42.
- [134] S. Mikkola and M. J. Valtonen, Evolution of binaries in the field of light particles and the problem of two black holes, Mon. Not. R. Astron. Soc. 259, 115 (1992), doi:10.1093/mnras/259.1.115.

- [135] M. Rajagopal and R. W. Romani, Ultra–low-frequency gravitational radiation from massive black hole binaries, Astrophys. J. 446, 543 (1995), doi:10.1086/175813.
- [136] M. Preto, I. Berentzen, P. Berczik and R. Spurzem, Fast coalescence of massive black hole binaries from merges of galactic nuclei: Implications for low frequency gravitational-wave astrophysics, Astrophys. J. 732, L26 (2011), doi:10.1088/2041-8205/732/2/L26.
- [137] F. M. Khan, K. Holley-Bockelmann, P. Berczik and A. Just, Supermassive black hole binary evolution in axisymmetric galaxies: The final parsec problem is not a problem, Astrophys. J. 773, 100 (2013), doi:10.1088/0004-637X/773/2/100.
- [138] E. Vasiliev, F. Antonini and D. Merritt, *The final-parsec problem in the collisionless limit*, Astrophys. J. **810**, 49 (2015), doi:10.1088/0004-637X/810/1/49.
- [139] C. J. Nixon, A. R. King and J. E. Pringle, *The final parsec problem: aligning a binary with an external accretion disc*, Mon. Not. R. Astron Soc. 417, L66 (2011), doi:10.1111/j.1745-3933.2011.01121.x.
- [140] G. Lodato, S. Nayakshin, A. R. King and J. E. Pringle, Black hole mergers: can gas discs solve the 'final parsec' problem?, Mon. Not. R. Astron Soc. 398, 1392 (2009), doi:10.1111/j.1365-2966.2009.15179.x.
- [141] F. G. Goicovic, A. Sesana, J. Cuadra and F. Stasyszyn, Infalling clouds on to supermassive black hole binaries – II. Binary evolution and the final parsec problem, Mon. Not. R. Astron Soc. 472, 514 (2017), doi:10.1093/mnras/stx1996.
- [142] C. Roedig, M. Dotti, A. Sesana, J. Cuadra and M. Colpi, *Limiting eccentricity of subparsec massive black hole binaries surrounded by self-gravitating gas discs*, Mon. Not. R. Astron Soc. 415, 3033 (2011), doi:10.1111/j.1365-2966.2011.18927.x.
- [143] A. Sesana, Insights into the astrophysics of supermassive black hole binaries from pulsar timing observations, Class. Quantum Grav. 30, 224014 (2013), doi:10.1088/0264-9381/30/22/224014.
- [144] A. Sesana, Self consistent model for the evolution of eccentric massive black hole binaris in stellar environments: Implications for graviational wave ovservations, Astrophys. J. 719, 851 (2010), doi:10.1088/0004-637X/719/1/851.
- [145] G. F. Giudice, M. McCullough and A. Urbano, Hunting for dark particles with gravitational waves, J. Cosmol. Astropart. Phys. 001 (2016), doi:10.1088/1475-7516/2016/10/001.
- [146] H. A. Buchdahl, General relativistic fluid spheres, Phys. Rev. 116, 1027 (1959), doi:10.1103/PhysRev.116.1027.
- [147] V. Cardoso and P. Pani, *Testing the nature of dark compact objects: a status report* (2019), arXiv:1904.05363.
- [148] J. F. Navarro, C. S. Frenk and S. D. M. White, *The Structure of cold dark matter halos*, Astrophys. J. **462**, 563 (1996), doi:10.1086/177173.
- [149] E. Seidel and W.-M. Suen, Oscillating soliton stars, Phys. Rev. Lett. 66, 1659 (1991), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.66.1659.
- [150] S. L. Liebling and C. Palenzuela, Dynamical boson stars, Living Rev. Relativ. 15, 6 (2012), doi:10.12942/lrr-2012-6.

- [151] A. Kusenko and M. Shaposhnikov, Supersymmetric Q-balls as dark matter, Phys. Lett. B 418, 46 (1998), doi:10.1016/S0370-2693(97)01375-0.
- [152] E. J. Copeland, M. Gleiser and H.-R. Müller, Oscillons: Resonant configurations during bubble collapse, Phys. Rev. D 52, 1920 (1995), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.52.1920.
- [153] T. D. Lee and Y. Pang, Nontopological solitons, Phys. Rep. 221, 251 (1992), doi:10.1016/0370-1573(92)90064-7.
- [154] E. Ya. Nugaev and A. V. Shkerin, *Review of nontopological solitons in theories with U(1)-symmetry*, J. Exp. Theor. Phys. **130**, 301 (2020), doi:10.1134/S1063776120020077.
- [155] D. J. Kaup, Klein-Gordon Geon, Phys. Rev. 172, 1331 (1968), doi:10.1103/PhysRev.172.1331.
- [156] C. Palenzuela, I. Olabarrieta, L. Lehner and S. L. Liebling, *Head-on collisions of boson stars*, Phys. Rev. D 75, 064005 (2007), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.75.064005.
- [157] C. Palenzuela, P. Pani, M. Bezares, V. Cardoso, L. Lehner and S. Liebling, Gravitational wave signatures of highly compact boson star binaries, Phys. Rev. D 96, 104058 (2017), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.96.104058.
- [158] T. Helfer, E. A. Lim, M. A. G. Garcia and M. A. Amin, Gravitational wave emission from collisions of compact scalar solitons, Phys. Rev. D 99, 044046 (2019), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.99.044046.
- [159] M. Bezares and C. Palenzuela, *Gravitational waves from dark boson star binary mergers*, Class. Quantum Grav. **35**, 234002 (2018), doi:10.1088/1361-6382/aae87c.
- [160] K. Clough, T. Dietrich and J. C. Niemeyer, Axion star collisions with black holes and neutron stars in full 3D numerical relativity, Phys. Rev. D 98, 083020 (2018), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.98.083020.
- [161] M. Colpi, S. L. Shapiro and I. Wasserman, Boson stars: Gravitational equilibria of self-interacting scalar fields, Phys. Rev. Lett. 57, 2485 (1986), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.57.2485.
- [162] D. Croon, J. Fan and C. Sun, Boson star from repulsive light scalars and gravitational waves, J. Cosmol. Astropart. Phys. 008 (2019), doi:10.1088/1475-7516/2019/04/008.
- [163] D. Croon, M. Gleiser, S. Mohapatra and C. Sun, Gravitational radiation background from boson star binaries, Phys. Lett. B 783, 158 (2018), doi:10.1016/j.physletb.2018.03.055.
- [164] V. Cardoso, E. Franzin, A. Maselli, P. Pani and G. Raposo, Publisher's note: Testing strong-field gravity with tidal Love numbers, Phys. Rev. D 95, 084014 (2017), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.95.084014, [Erratum: Phys. Rev. D 95, 089901 (2017), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.95.089901].
- [165] N. Sennett, T. Hinderer, J. Steinhoff, A. Buonanno and S. Ossokine, *Distinguishing bo-son stars from black holes and neutron stars from tidal interactions in inspiraling binary systems*, Phys. Rev. D 96, 024002 (2017), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.96.024002.
- [166] H.-K. Guo, K. Sinha and C. Sun, Probing boson stars with extreme mass ratio inspirals, J. Cosmol. Astropart. Phys. 032 (2019), doi:10.1088/1475-7516/2019/09/032.
- [167] C. Kouvaris and N. Grønlund Nielsen, Asymmetric dark matter stars, Phys. Rev. D 92, 063526 (2015), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.92.063526.

- [168] M. I. Gresham and K. M. Zurek, Asymmetric dark stars and neutron star stability, Phys. Rev. D 99, 083008 (2019), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.99.083008.
- [169] J. H. Chang, D. Egana-Ugrinovic, R. Essig and C. Kouvaris, Structure formation and exotic compact objects in a dissipative dark sector, J. Cosmol. Astropart. Phys. 036 (2019), doi:10.1088/1475-7516/2019/03/036.
- [170] A. Maselli, P. Pnigouras, N. Grønlund Nielsen, C. Kouvaris and K. D. Kokkotas, *Dark stars: Gravitational and electromagnetic observables*, Phys. Rev. D 96, 023005 (2017), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.96.023005.
- [171] G. M. Fuller, A. Kusenko and V. Takhistov, *Primordial black holes and r-process nucleosynthesis*, Phys. Rev. Lett. **119**, 061101 (2017), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.119.061101.
- [172] V. Takhistov, *Positrons from primordial black hole microquasars and gamma-ray bursts*, Phys. Lett. B **789**, 538 (2019), doi:10.1016/j.physletb.2018.12.043.
- [173] V. Takhistov, Transmuted gravity wave signals from primordial black holes, Phys. Lett. B 782, 77 (2018), doi:10.1016/j.physletb.2018.05.026.
- [174] G. Panotopoulos and I. Lopes, *Dark matter effect on realistic equation of state in neutron stars*, Phys. Rev. D **96**, 083004 (2017), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.96.083004.
- [175] J. Ellis, G. Hütsi, K. Kannike, L. Marzola, M. Raidal and V. Vaskonen, Dark matter effects on neutron star properties, Phys. Rev. D 97, 123007 (2018), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.97.123007.
- [176] A. E. Nelson, S. Reddy and D. Zhou, Dark halos around neutron stars and gravitational waves, J. Cosmol. Astropart. Phys. 012 (2019), doi:10.1088/1475-7516/2019/07/012.
- [177] A. Hook and J. Huang, *Probing axions with neutron star inspirals and other stellar processes*, J. High Energ. Phys. **06**, 036 (2018), doi:10.1007/JHEP06(2018)036.
- [178] J. Huang, M. C. Johnson, L. Sagunski, M. Sakellariadou and J. Zhang, Prospects for axion searches with Advanced LIGO through binary mergers, Phys. Rev. D 99, 063013 (2019), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.99.063013.
- [179] D. Croon, A. E. Nelson, C. Sun, D. G. E. Walker and Z.-Z. Xianyu, Hidden-sector spectroscopy with gravitational waves from binary neutron stars, Astrophys. J. 858, L2 (2018), doi:10.3847/2041-8213/aabe76.
- [180] L. Sagunski, J. Zhang, M. C. Johnson, L. Lehner, M. Sakellariadou, S. L. Liebling, C. Palenzuela and D. Neilsen, *Neutron star mergers as a probe of modifications of* general relativity with finite-range scalar forces, Phys. Rev. D 97, 064016 (2018), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.97.064016.
- [181] J. Kopp, R. Laha, T. Opferkuch and W. Shepherd, Cuckoo's eggs in neutron stars: can LIGO hear chirps from the dark sector?, J. High Energ. Phys. 11, 096 (2018), doi:10.1007/JHEP11(2018)096.
- [182] S. Alexander, E. McDonough, R. Sims and N. Yunes, *Hidden-sector modifications to gravitational waves from binary inspirals*, Class. Quantum Grav. 35, 235012 (2018), doi:10.1088/1361-6382/aaeb5c.
- [183] M. Fabbrichesi and A. Urbano, Charged neutron stars and observational tests of a dark force weaker than gravity, J. Cosmol. Astropart. Phys. 007 (2020), doi:10.1088/1475-7516/2020/06/007.

- [184] H. G. Choi and S. Jung, New probe of dark matter-induced fifth force with neutron star inspirals, Phys. Rev. D 99, 015013 (2019), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.99.015013.
- [185] L. Buoninfante and A. Mazumdar, Nonlocal star as a blackhole mimicker, Phys. Rev. D 100, 024031 (2019), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.100.024031.
- [186] S. B. Giddings, Black holes and massive remnants, Phys. Rev. D 46, 1347 (1992), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.46.1347.
- [187] C. Posada and C. Chirenti, On the radial stability of ultra-compact Schwarzschild stars beyond the Buchdahl limit, Class. Quantum Grav. 36, 065004 (2019), doi:10.1088/1361-6382/ab0526.
- [188] A. Einstein and N. Rosen, *The particle problem in the general theory of relativity*, Phys. Rev. 48, 73 (1935), doi:10.1103/PhysRev.48.73.
- [189] J. A. González, F. S. Guzmán and O. Sarbach, Instability of wormholes supported by a ghost scalar field: I. Linear stability analysis, Class. Quantum Grav. 26, 015010 (2008), doi:10.1088/0264-9381/26/1/015010.
- [190] G. Raposo, P. Pani, M. Bezares, C. Palenzuela and V. Cardoso, Anisotropic stars as ultracompact objects in general relativity, Phys. Rev. D 99, 104072 (2019), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.99.104072.
- [191] R. A. Porto, The tune of love and thenature(ness) of spacetime, Fortschr. Phys. 64, 723 (2016), doi:10.1002/prop.201600064.
- [192] A. Maselli, P. Pani, V. Cardoso, T. Abdelsalhin, L. Gualtieri and V. Ferrari, *Probing Planck-ian corrections at the horizon scale with LISA binaries*, Phys. Rev. Lett. **120**, 081101 (2018), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.120.081101.
- [193] P. Pani and A. Maselli, Love in extrema ratio, Int. J. Mod. Phys. D 28, 1944001 (2019), doi:10.1142/S0218271819440012.
- [194] A. Vilenkin, *Cosmic strings and domain walls*, Phys. Rep. **121**, 263 (1985), doi:10.1016/0370-1573(85)90033-X.
- [195] D. M. Grabowska, T. Melia and S. Rajendran, *Detecting dark blobs*, Phys. Rev. D 98, 115020 (2018), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.98.115020.
- [196] T. Cheng, R. Primulando and M. Spinrath, *Dark matter induced Brownian motion*, Eur. Phys. J. C **80**, 519 (2020), doi:10.1140/epjc/s10052-020-8066-8.
- [197] A. E. Nelson and J. Scholtz, Dark light, dark matter, and the misalignment mechanism, Phys. Rev. D 84, 103501 (2011), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.84.103501.
- [198] P. W. Graham, J. Mardon and S. Rajendran, *Vector dark matter from inflationary fluctuations*, Phys. Rev. D **93**, 103520 (2016), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.93.103520.
- [199] P. Agrawal, N. Kitajima, M. Reece, T. Sekiguchi and F. Takahashi, *Relic abundance of dark photon dark matter*, Phys. Lett. B 801, 135136 (2020), doi:10.1016/j.physletb.2019.135136.
- [200] Y. Su, B. R. Heckel, E. G. Adelberger, J. H. Gundlach, M. Harris, G. L. Smith and H. E. Swanson, *New tests of the universality of free fall*, Phys. Rev. D 50, 3614 (1994), doi:10.1103/physrevd.50.3614.

- [201] S. Schlamminger, K.-Y. Choi, T. A. Wagner, J. H. Gundlach and E. G. Adelberger, *Test of the equivalence principle using a rotating torsion balance*, Phys. Rev. Lett. **100**, 041101 (2008), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.100.041101.
- [202] A. Pierce, K. Riles and Y. Zhao, *Searching for dark photon dark matter with gravitational-wave detectors*, Phys. Rev. Lett. **121**, 061102 (2018), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.121.061102.
- [203] H.-K. Guo, K. Riles, F.-W. Yang and Y. Zhao, *Searching for dark photon dark matter in LIGO 01 data*, Commun. Phys. **2**, 155 (2019), doi:10.1038/s42005-019-0255-0.
- [204] K. Nagano, T. Fujita, Y. Michimura and I. Obata, Axion dark matter search with interferometric gravitational wave detectors, Phys. Rev. Lett. 123, 111301 (2019), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.123.111301.
- [205] W. DeRocco and A. Hook, Axion interferometry, Phys. Rev. D 98, 035021 (2018), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.98.035021.
- [206] H. Liu, B. D. Elwood, M. Evans and J. Thaler, Searching for axion dark matter with birefringent cavities, Phys. Rev. D 100, 023548 (2019), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.100.023548.
- [207] I. Obata, T. Fujita and Y. Michimura, *Optical ring cavity search for axion dark matter*, Phys. Rev. Lett. **121**, 161301 (2018), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.121.161301.
- [208] V. Anastassopoulos et al. *New CAST limit on the axion-photon interaction*, Nat. Phys. **13**, 584 (2017), doi:10.1038/nphys4109.
- [209] K. Zioutas et al., *First results from the CERN axion solar telescope*, Phys. Rev. Lett. **94**, 121301 (2005), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.94.121301.
- [210] H. Grote and Y. V. Stadnik, Novel signatures of dark matter in laserinterferometric gravitational-wave detectors, Phys. Rev. Research 1, 033187 (2019), doi:10.1103/PhysRevResearch.1.033187.
- [211] S. Morisaki and T. Suyama, Detectability of ultralight scalar field dark matter with gravitational-wave detectors, Phys. Rev. D 100, 123512 (2019), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.100.123512.
- [212] A. Hees, J. Guéna, M. Abgrall, S. Bize and P. Wolf, Searching for an oscillating massive scalar field as a dark matter candidate using atomic hyperfine frequency comparisons, Phys. Rev. Lett. 117, 061301 (2016), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.117.061301.
- [213] K. Van Tilburg, N. Leefer, L. Bougas and D. Budker, Search for ultralight scalar dark matter with atomic spectroscopy, Phys. Rev. Lett. 115, 011802 (2015), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.115.011802.
- [214] A. Branca et al., Search for an ultralight scalar dark matter candidate with the AURIGA detector, Phys. Rev. Lett. **118**, 021302 (2017), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.118.021302.
- [215] S. Detweiler, *Pulsar timing measurements and the search for gravitational waves*, Astrophys. J. **234**, 1100 (1979), doi:10.1086/157593.
- [216] M. V. Sazhin, Opportunities for detecting ultralong gravitational waves, Sov. Astron. 22, 36 (1978).

- [217] J. P. W. Verbiest et al., *The international pulsar timing array: First data release*, Mon. Not. R. Astron. Soc. **458**, 1267 (2016), doi:10.1093/mnras/stw347.
- [218] Z. Arzoumanian et al., The NANOGrav 11 year data set: Pulsar-timing constraints on the stochastic gravitational-wave background, Astrophys. J. 859, 47 (2018), doi:10.3847/1538-4357/aabd3b.
- [219] L. Lentati et al., European Pulsar Timing Array limits on an isotropic stochastic gravitational-wave background, Mon. Not. R. Astron. Soc. 453, 2577 (2015), doi:10.1093/mnras/stv1538.
- [220] G. Hobbs, The Parkes pulsar timing array, Class. Quantum Grav. 30, 224007 (2013), doi:10.1088/0264-9381/30/22/224007.
- [221] R. N. Manchester et al., *The Parkes pulsar timing array project*, Publ. Astron. Soc. Aust. 30, e017 (2013), doi:10.1017/pasa.2012.017.
- [222] T. J. W. Lazio, *The square kilometre array pulsar timing array*, Class. Quantum Grav. **30**, 224011 (2013), doi:10.1088/0264-9381/30/22/224011.
- [223] E. R. Siegel, M. P. Hertzberg and J. N. Fry, Probing dark matter substructure with pulsar timing, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 382, 879 (2007), doi:10.1111/j.1365-2966.2007.12435.x.
- [224] N. Seto and A. Cooray, *Searching for primordial black hole dark matter with pulsar timing arrays*, Astrophys. J. **659**, L33 (2007), doi:10.1086/516570.
- [225] S. Baghram, N. Afshordi and K. M. Zurek, Prospects for detecting dark matter halo substructure with pulsar timing, Phys. Rev. D 84, 043511 (2011), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.84.043511.
- [226] K. Kashiyama and N. Seto, Enhanced exploration for primordial black holes using pulsar timing arrays, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 426, 1369 (2012), doi:10.1111/j.1365-2966.2012.21935.x.
- [227] H. A. Clark, G. F. Lewis and P. Scott, Investigating dark matter substructure with pulsar timing – I. Constraints on ultracompact minihaloes, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 456, 1394 (2016), doi:10.1093/mnras/stv2743, [Erratum: Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 464, 2468 (2017), doi:10.1093/mnras/stw2582].
- [228] K. Schutz and A. Liu, Pulsar timing can constrain primordial black holes in the LIGO mass window, Phys. Rev. D 95, 023002 (2017), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.95.023002.
- [229] J. A. Dror, H. Ramani, T. Trickle and K. M. Zurek, Pulsar timing probes of primordial black holes and subhalos, Phys. Rev. D 100, 023003 (2019), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.100.023003.
- [230] W. Hu, R. Barkana and A. Gruzinov, Fuzzy cold dark matter: The wave properties of ultralight particles, Phys. Rev. Lett. 85, 1158 (2000), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.85.1158.
- [231] A. Khmelnitsky and V. Rubakov, *Pulsar timing signal from ultralight scalar dark matter*, J. Cosmol. Astropart. Phys. 019 (2014), doi:10.1088/1475-7516/2014/02/019.
- [232] N. K. Porayko et al., Parkes pulsar timing array constraints on ultralight scalar-field dark matter, Phys. Rev. D 98, 102002 (2018), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.98.102002.

- [233] M. Y. Khlopov, B. A. Malomed and Y. B. Zeldovich, Gravitational instability of scalar fields and formation of primordial black holes, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 215, 575 (1985), doi:10.1093/mnras/215.4.575.
- [234] M. A. Amin, R. Easther, H. Finkel, R. Flauger and M. P. Hertzberg, Oscillons after Inflation, Phys. Rev. Lett. 108, 241302 (2012), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.108.241302.
- [235] K. D. Lozanov and M. A. Amin, Self-resonance after inflation: Oscillons, transients, and radiation domination, Phys. Rev. D 97, 023533 (2018), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.97.023533.
- [236] M. A. Amin and P. Mocz, Formation, gravitational clustering, and interactions of nonrelativistic solitons in an expanding universe, Phys. Rev. D 100, 063507 (2019), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.100.063507.
- [237] A. Kusenko and A. Mazumdar, Gravitational waves from fragmentation of a primordial scalar condensate into Q balls, Phys. Rev. Lett. 101, 211301 (2008), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.101.211301.
- [238] N. Kitajima, J. Soda and Y. Urakawa, Gravitational wave forest from string axiverse, J. Cosmol. Astropart. Phys. 008 (2018), doi:10.1088/1475-7516/2018/10/008.
- [239] K. D. Lozanov and M. A. Amin, *Gravitational perturbations from oscillons and transients after inflation*, Phys. Rev. D **99**, 123504 (2019), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.99.123504.
- [240] M. A. Amin, M. P. Hertzberg, D. I. Kaiser and J. Karouby, Nonperturbative dynamics of reheating after inflation: A review, Int. J. Mod. Phys. D 24, 1530003 (2015), doi:10.1142/S0218271815300037.
- [241] R. T. Co, A. Pierce, Z. Zhang and Y. Zhao, Dark photon dark matter produced by axion oscillations, Phys. Rev. D 99, 075002 (2019), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.99.075002.
- [242] M. Bastero-Gil, J. Santiago, L. Ubaldi and R. Vega-Morales, Vector dark matter production at the end of inflation, J. Cosmol. Astropart. Phys. 015 (2019), doi:10.1088/1475-7516/2019/04/015.
- [243] S. Khlebnikov and I. Tkachev, *Relic gravitational waves produced after preheating*, Phys. Rev. D 56, 653 (1997), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.56.653.
- [244] R. Easther and E. A. Lim, *Stochastic gravitational wave production after inflation*, J. Cosmol. Astropart. Phys. 010 (2006), doi:10.1088/1475-7516/2006/04/010.
- [245] J.-F. Dufaux, A. Bergman, G. Felder, L. Kofman and J.-P. Uzan, Theory and numerics of gravitational waves from preheating after inflation, Phys. Rev. D 76, 123517 (2007), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.76.123517.
- [246] C. S. Machado, W. Ratzinger, P. Schwaller and B. A. Stefanek, *Audible axions*, J. High Energ. Phys. **01**, 053 (2019), doi:10.1007/JHEP01(2019)053.
- [247] M. A. Amin, J. Fan, K. D. Lozanov and M. Reece, *Cosmological dynamics of Higgs potential fine tuning*, Phys. Rev. D **99**, 035008 (2019), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.99.035008.
- [248] C. Caprini and D. G. Figueroa, *Cosmological backgrounds of gravitational waves*, Class. Quantum Grav. **35**, 163001 (2018), doi:10.1088/1361-6382/aac608.
- [249] C. J. Hogan, *Gravitational radiation from cosmological phase transitions*, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. **218**, 629 (1986), doi:10.1093/mnras/218.4.629.

- [250] A. Kosowsky, M. S. Turner and R. Watkins, Gravitational waves from firstorder cosmological phase transitions, Phys. Rev. Lett. 69, 2026 (1992), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.69.2026.
- [251] C. Grojean and G. Servant, *Gravitational waves from phase transitions at the electroweak scale and beyond*, Phys. Rev. D **75**, 043507 (2007), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.75.043507.
- [252] C. Caprini et al., Science with the space-based interferometer eLISA. II: gravitational waves from cosmological phase transitions, J. Cosmol. Astropart. Phys. 001 (2016), doi:10.1088/1475-7516/2016/04/001.
- [253] D. J. Weir, Gravitational waves from a first-order electroweak phase transition: a brief review, Phil. Trans. R. Soc. A. 376, 20170126 (2018), doi:10.1098/rsta.2017.0126.
- [254] M. Hindmarsh, S. J. Huber, K. Rummukainen and D. J. Weir, Shape of the acoustic gravitational wave power spectrum from a first order phase transition, Phys. Rev. D 96, 103520 (2017), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.96.103520.
- [255] D. Cutting, M. Hindmarsh and D. J. Weir, Gravitational waves from vacuum first-order phase transitions: From the envelope to the lattice, Phys. Rev. D 97, 123513 (2018), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.97.123513.
- [256] D. Croon, T. E. Gonzalo and G. White, *Gravitational waves from a Pati-Salam phase transition*, J. High Energ. Phys. **02**, 083 (2019), doi:10.1007/JHEP02(2019)083.
- [257] K. Rummukainen and M. E. Shaposhnikov, *Is there a hot electroweak phase transition at* $m_H \gtrsim m_W$?, Phys. Rev. Lett. **77**, 2887 (1996), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.**77**.2887.
- [258] K. Kajantie, M. Laine, K. Rummukainen and M. Shaposhnikov, A non-perturbative analysis of the finite-T phase transition in SU(2)×U(1) electroweak theory, Nucl. Phys. B 493, 413 (1997), doi:10.1016/S0550-3213(97)00164-8.
- [259] E. Madge and P. Schwaller, Leptophilic dark matter from gauged lepton number: phenomenology and gravitational wave signatures, J. High Energ. Phys. 02, 048 (2019), doi:10.1007/JHEP02(2019)048.
- [260] M. Chala, G. Nardini and I. Sobolev, Unified explanation for dark matter and electroweak baryogenesis with direct detection and gravitational wave signatures, Phys. Rev. D 94, 055006 (2016), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.94.055006.
- [261] J. R. Espinosa, T. Konstandin and F. Riva, Strong electroweak phase transitions in the Standard Model with a singlet, Nucl. Phys. B 854, 592 (2012), doi:10.1016/j.nuclphysb.2011.09.010.
- [262] J. M. Cline and K. Kainulainen, *Electroweak baryogenesis and dark matter from a singlet Higgs*, J. Cosmol. Astropart. Phys. 012 (2013), doi:10.1088/1475-7516/2013/01/012.
- [263] D. Curtin, P. Meade and C. T. Yu, *Testing electroweak baryogenesis with future colliders*, J. High Energy Phys. **11**, 127 (2014), doi:10.1007/JHEP11(2014)127.
- [264] J. M. Cline, K. Kainulainen, P. Scott and C. Weniger, *Update on scalar singlet dark matter*, Phys. Rev. D 88, 055025 (2013), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.88.055025, [Erratum: Phys. Rev. D 92, 039906 (2015), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.92.039906].
- [265] A. Beniwal, M. Lewicki, J. D. Wells, M. White and A. G. Williams, Gravitational wave, collider and dark matter signals from a scalar singlet electroweak baryogenesis, J. High Energ. Phys. 08, 108 (2017), doi:10.1007/JHEP08(2017)108.

- [266] A. Kusenko, Sterile neutrinos, dark matter, and pulsar velocities in models with a Higgs singlet, Phys. Rev. Lett. 97, 241301 (2006), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.97.241301.
- [267] K. Petraki and A. Kusenko, *Dark-matter sterile neutrinos in models with a gauge singlet in the Higgs sector*, Phys. Rev. D **77**, 065014 (2008), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.77.065014.
- [268] L. Bian and Y.-L. Tang, Thermally modified sterile neutrino portal dark matter and gravitational waves from phase transition: the freeze-in case, J. High Energ. Phys. 12, 006 (2018), doi:10.1007/JHEP12(2018)006.
- [269] G. C. Branco, P. M. Ferreira, L. Lavoura, M. N. Rebelo, M. Sher and J. P. Silva, *Theory and phenomenology of two-Higgs-doublet models*, Phys. Rep. 516, 1 (2012), doi:10.1016/j.physrep.2012.02.002.
- [270] M. Kakizaki, S. Kanemura and T. Matsui, Gravitational waves as a probe of extended scalar sectors with the first order electroweak phase transition, Phys. Rev. D 92, 115007 (2015), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.92.115007.
- [271] V. A. Kuzmin, V. A. Rubakov and M. E. Shaposhnikov, On anomalous electroweak baryon-number non-conservation in the early universe, Phys. Lett. B 155, 36 (1985), doi:10.1016/0370-2693(85)91028-7.
- [272] J. Kozaczuk, S. Profumo, L. Stephenson Haskins and C. L. Wainwright, *Cosmological phase transitions and their properties in the NMSSM*, J. High Energ. Phys. 01, 144 (2015), doi:10.1007/JHEP01(2015)144.
- [273] L. Randall and G. Servant, *Gravitational waves from warped spacetime*, J. High Energy Phys. 05, 054 (2007), doi:10.1088/1126-6708/2007/05/054.
- [274] G. Nardini, M. Quirós and A. Wulzer, A confining strong first-order electroweak phase transition, J. High Energ. Phys. 09, 077 (2007), doi:10.1088/1126-6708/2007/09/077.
- [275] S. Bruggisser, B. von Harling, O. Matsedonskyi and G. Servant, *Electroweak phase transition and baryogenesis in composite Higgs models*, J. High Energ. Phys. **12**, 099 (2018), doi:10.1007/JHEP12(2018)099.
- [276] T. Hambye and A. Strumia, *Dynamical generation of the weak and dark matter scale*, Phys. Rev. D **88**, 055022 (2013), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.88.055022.
- [277] S. Yaser Ayazi and A. Mohamadnejad, Conformal vector dark matter and strongly first-order electroweak phase transition, J. High Energ. Phys. 03, 181 (2019), doi:10.1007/JHEP03(2019)181.
- [278] P. Schwaller, Gravitational waves from a dark phase transition, Phys. Rev. Lett. 115, 181101 (2015), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.115.181101.
- [279] D. Croon, V. Sanz and G. White, Model discrimination in gravitational wave spectra from dark phase transitions, J. High Energ. Phys. 08, 203 (2018), doi:10.1007/JHEP08(2018)203.
- [280] M. Breitbach, J. Kopp, E. Madge, T. Opferkuch and P. Schwaller, Dark, cold, and noisy: constraining secluded hidden sectors with gravitational waves, J. Cosmol. Astropart. Phys. 007 (2019), doi:10.1088/1475-7516/2019/07/007.

- [281] M. Fairbairn, E. Hardy and A. Wickens, *Hearing without seeing: gravitational waves from hot and cold hidden sectors*, J. High Energ. Phys. 07, 044 (2019), doi:10.1007/JHEP07(2019)044.
- [282] T. Konstandin and G. Servant, Cosmological consequences of nearly conformal dynamics at the TeV scale, J. Cosmol. Astropart. Phys. 009 (2011), doi:10.1088/1475-7516/2011/12/009.
- [283] P. Baratella, A. Pomarol and F. Rompineve, *The supercooled universe*, J. High Energ. Phys. 03, 100 (2019), doi:10.1007/JHEP03(2019)100.
- [284] T. Hambye, A. Strumia and D. Teresi, *Super-cool dark matter*, J. High Energ. Phys. 08, 188 (2018), doi:10.1007/JHEP08(2018)188.
- [285] G. Servant, Baryogenesis from strong CP violation and the QCD axion, Phys. Rev. Lett. 113, 171803 (2014), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.113.171803.
- [286] B. von Harling and G. Servant, QCD-induced electroweak phase transition, J. High Energ. Phys. 01, 159 (2018), doi:10.1007/JHEP01(2018)159.
- [287] D. J. H. Chung, E. W. Kolb and A. Riotto, *Nonthermal supermassive dark matter*, Phys. Rev. Lett. 81, 4048 (1998), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.81.4048.
- [288] T. Konstandin and G. Servant, Natural cold baryogenesis from strongly interacting electroweak symmetry breaking, J. Cosmol. Astropart. Phys. 024 (2011), doi:10.1088/1475-7516/2011/07/024.
- [289] A. Falkowski and J. M. No, Non-thermal dark matter production from the electroweak phase transition: multi-TeV WIMPs and "baby-zillas", J. High Energ. Phys. 02, 034 (2013), doi:10.1007/JHEP02(2013)034.
- [290] A. Katz and A. Riotto, Baryogenesis and gravitational waves from runaway bubble collisions, J. Cosmol. Astropart. Phys. 011 (2016), doi:10.1088/1475-7516/2016/11/011.
- [291] R. D. Pisarski and F. Wilczek, *Remarks on the chiral phase transition in chromodynamics*, Phys. Rev. D **29**, 338 (1984), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.29.338.
- [292] Y. Iwasaki, K. Kanaya, S. Sakai and T. Yoshié, *Chiral phase transition in lattice QCD with Wilson quarks*, Z. Phys. C Part. Fields **71**, 337 (1996), doi:10.1007/BF02906992.
- [293] Y. Bai, A. J. Long and S. Lu, Dark quark nuggets, Phys. Rev. D 99, 055047 (2019), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.99.055047.
- [294] A. J. Helmboldt, J. Kubo and S. van der Woude, Observational prospects for gravitational waves from hidden or dark chiral phase transitions, Phys. Rev. D 100, 055025 (2019), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.100.055025.
- [295] D. Croon, R. Houtz and V. Sanz, *Dynamical axions and gravitational waves*, J. High Energ. Phys. **07**, 146 (2019), doi:10.1007/JHEP07(2019)146.
- [296] E. Witten, *Cosmic separation of phases*, Phys. Rev. D **30**, 272 (1984), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.30.272.
- [297] Y. Bai and A. J. Long, Six flavor quark matter, J. High Energ. Phys. 06, 072 (2018), doi:10.1007/JHEP06(2018)072.

Sci Post

- [298] S. Boran, S. Desai, E. O. Kahya and R. P. Woodard, *GW170817 falsifies dark matter* emulators, Phys. Rev. D **97**, 041501 (2018), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.97.041501.
- [299] J. Sakstein and B. Jain, Implications of the neutron star Merger GW170817 for cosmological scalar-tensor theories, Phys. Rev. Lett. 119, 251303 (2017), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.119.251303.
- [300] H. Wang et al., The GW170817/GRB 170817A/AT 2017gfo association: Some implications for physics and astrophysics, Astrophys. J. 851, L18 (2017), doi:10.3847/2041-8213/aa9e08.